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COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS, PART IIT.

__.-_____-_____uk__x

The People orf the State of Mew York,:
!Before
against ! Hon.Jlames: Fitzgerald
: and a Jury.
James M. MeCready and Christopher
Dunnigan.

——"'—‘--‘--”'—""——""-‘—"—X

Indictment fileq Dec. 15, 1890,
Indicted for grand larceny in the second de-
gree.
New York, January 12 > 1890,
APPEARANCES:
For the People,
Asst. Di Strict~Atty. Bedforg;
For the Defendant,
T, T, Sullivan, Esq.
HYMAN GOLDEERG, a witness for the People, Sworn, testified:
I'am 2 tailoyp doing business at No. 22 Cath-
. arine Street. On the 30th. of November last I had a
gZreat qQuant ity of coat s in my Premi ses. I lefg my place
E\; at about half past five o'clock on Friday evening and when

 ‘ I came Sunday morning fifteen of the coat s which had been -

E lying on a table were gone. I afterwards saw some of
the coats in Police Headquarters and po 51t1vely identifieq
, them as my property.

LENA ABRAMS, g witness for the People, sSworn, testified:

|
[” I am a marrieqg lady end live at 25 Henry St..
!




On November 30th. I was at Mr. Goldberg's place at No.22
Catharine Street. I was at the door of the store under-
neath #%he tailor shof. On that cday I saw the defendant
lieCready come éut of Mr. Goldbenés shop down the stairs.
I noticed coats under his arm and a new coat on him. I
didn't see the other defendant at that time. The coats
which MceCready had belonged to Mr. Goldberg.
CROSS-EXAMINATION:

I am positive the defendant bMcCready is the
man whom I saw with the new coat. I saw him comingout of
the hallway which leads to Mr. Goldberg's shop. I am
positive this happened on a Saturday when Mr. Goldberg's
shop was closed. The defendant walked towards Chatham
Square.

BERNARD LARKIN; a witness for the People, sworn, testified:

I am an officer attached to the Sixth Precinct.
I arrested the defendants on the afternocon of the 2d4. of
December; I think it was on a Sunday. I arrested
MeCready while he was trying to sell an unfinished over-
coat. I asked him where he got the coat and he said if

ffjwas given to him by Chri stopher Dunnigan. I asked him
where Dunnigan was and he told me he was in Mulberwy S5t
in a saloon. IjWent there and found Dunnigan. He told
me ﬁhat he had more coats of the same kind in the cellér

of his house at No. 33 James Street. I told him he had

better come to the Station House and explain the whole

matter. ,H went to No., 33 James Street and in the cellar




of that house I found some more coats. I brought them
to the Station House and they were identified by the com-
plainant .

JEREMIAH J. GRIFFIN, =z witness for the People, sworn, testi-

fied:

I am =n officer attached to the Fourteenth Pre-

cinect . In company with the officer just on the stand I
arrested the two defendants. I saw Dunnigan in his own
house 33 James Street. T asked him sgbout these coats
and he told me that he had found them in the cellar on
Sunday afternoon. He said he spoke to his mother about
them énd his mother advised him to leave them t here. He
told me that he finally took one of them out to se 11 and
that he gave it to MeCready who was endeavoring to sell
it when he got arrested.
| DEFENSE:
JULIA DUNNIGAN, a witness for the defendant, sworn, testified:
I live at No. 33 James Streect. I am the

mother of one of these defendant s. I have been living
in the Fourth Ward for thirty- four year s. I remember the
294h. of Movember last. My son came to me and told r;xe
that he had found some coats down in the cellar of our
house. I told him to leave the coats there or he might
get into troul;le.

HRISTOI"HER\ DUNNIGAN, one of the defendants, sworn, tes‘-cified:.

I have lived at MNo. 33 James Stfeet for +the

pas‘b ten years. I have been in the undertaking business

.": ’/ /




for a gentleman at No. 32 Madison Street. On Sunday
afternoon I happened to be down in the cellsr of our
house for some coal and right near the Place where we
keep our coal I saw quite a pile of coats lying_. I came
Upst airs and told my mother about the coats and she told
me to leave them alone. After leaving them there for
some time I thought I would £0 out and try to sell one of
them. I didn't know that they had been stolen. I gave
one to the defendant McCready and it was at my request
that he was endeavo_ring to sell it when he was arrested.
I had no idea whatever that these coats were Stolen at

the time I handegd them to MeCready to sell.

CROSS-EXAMINATION :

Q :

Q
Q .
Q

|

i
Q i
t

You found these coats in your cellar 9 A Yes, sir.

In the same house in whi ch you live ¢ A Yes, sir.

You didﬁ't know who put them there 9 A No, sir.

You were sure that you didn't owm ‘them ? A I was posi-
tive of that.

Notwithstanding that faet, did you use any diligence to

ascertain, or did you look around the neighborhood to

.Tind out, who put the clothesthere ? A No, sir,

You took one of them out to sell ¢ A Yes, sir.,

{ 3
GE{ORGE CUSHING, a witness for the defendant, sworn, testified:

|
|

I met the defendant on Sunday, the 30t_h. day
of November last. At that time he took me down in his
cellar and showed me a pile of coats that were down there.

There were abp/ut two or three coats and three or four




pairs of sleeves. I told him he had better leave them

there. I am a fireman by odcupation at No. 144 Fulton

.« Street. o : : S

'T_?. JAMES McCREADY, one of the defendents, sworn, testified:

I live at No. 55% Third Avenue between 36th.
~and 57£h. Street.s. . didnff break into the premises of
, Mr. Goldbeﬁ;,nor}did I éteai these coat s. The first
;th;ﬁg i kﬁgw abdut the qoat#Awas when I met Mr. Dunnigan
fané;he;hanaed me one of the coats and asked me to go
*tr?hand sell it. I was eﬁéeavoring to sell it at a

" store in Baxter Street when I was' arrested by the Officer.

The Jury returned a verdict of "Guilty of
Grand Larceny in the Second Degree, with a

recommendat ion to the mercy of the Court".
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District.

Police. TCourt—/

_ Affidavit—Larceny. -

o (é/%

Street, age

- dity ml Eonutp’
of Bew Pork, [

occupat Zon

being duly sworn
d’eposr’s and says, that on the j day ofWS

(ya& the City of IV i
Yoﬂr, in the C'ozmtl/ of New York, was feloniously taken, stolen and carried ((wm/ From tlhepossession

of (7eponmzz$ 0 th

; ﬂ C. &8 5T ... time, the following pr operty, viz:

the properéy of,

and that this (Zepoﬁ(mt
nd does .suspect,ﬁ%/é Le SGAr X niowusly lalken







CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, }SS

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Sworn to before me, this. T ...

e Justice.
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CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, } s

o Street, being duly sworn deposes

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of . #7272 Z777

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own
knowledge.

Sworn. to before me, this.

Police Justice.




~ District Police Court. "

See. 108200, © . . - -

CITY AND£LOUNTY }SS
o : ~

YORK /Cﬂ - ' ‘ . ;
e . . (i . ‘ )
/%’/ : [ niny 7= Deing duly examined before the under-

- ,signed accordgg to law, on the annexed cl[mrge; and being informed that it is L —<&right to

make a sthmént in relation to the charge against . h ; that the statement is designed to °

) enable ht~n~— if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h<e~—
1. that h&  is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h “—Svaiver cannot be used

against . h <~ on the trial.

| —Question... What.i

| Question. Where were you

Answer. /_ -

C

Question. Where do you live, and how long ha

Answer.
Question. What is your business o

Question. _Give any explanation” you may think proper of the ecircumstances_ appearing in the E&S
testimony a.gziinyyou, and state any facts which you think will tend to your |
,excull}a,ﬁon’! - .

£




being duly exmmned bef01e t e under-

»

..._.Questzan W is. your.name.z

mned a coldmc, to law on the annexed chy(e, 'md /bemw informed that it is’ h right' to

bmalxe a statem nt in 1’e1a.t10n to the charge’ againgt thmt the sbatement: is - designed to-.»

‘enable h[/‘/\_/ if “he. see fit to answér the charge.
that he is at(hbelty to waive mmkmn' a statement, and that h __Swaiver cannot be used

and explam the facts a.]leged against h L‘%

against h\/\& on the ‘trial.

___A_nqm . W

__szézozk._ﬂomldﬂmegyou_f =z G

Answer :

.Ouestz'on. ‘Where were you born ?

Answer.

ave you resided there %

Question.' -\Vhe1e do you liv: e, and how long b

Question.

Answer.

may think proper of the circumstances ﬂ.ppearmtr in the

testimony g, nst« you, and state any facts which you think W111 tend to your
exculp::d:io;ﬂﬁ1 . ; S
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It gppearing tp me by “the within depositions and: statements that the crime thercin

corvmvitted, and that there is sufficient cause to belicve the within named..

¢ %’rdgr that 7bé held to answer the same and  he be admitted to bail in the sum, of

—Hundred Dollars, to the Warden and Keeper of

the City of W‘g I’ézz"o,\umtil ‘/hg &
=z 18 Z - .Police Justice.

I have admitted the abave—;iam;erl..

“to buil to answer by the wndertaking lereto annea

7o tobe disclharged.

JPolice Justice.
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THE PEOPLE, &c
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BAILED,
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Gourt of General Sessions of the Feace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

New York, by this - indictment,

'm the year of our Lord one thousand emht lmndred and W

, at the Clty and County aforesaid, with force ahd arms,

v

. chattels and personal property of one




' .\

then and there well R ing the said goods, chattels and personal property o have been
felomously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case m'Lde
and plov1ded, and fmamst the peace of the People of the State of I ew York and their dlo'mty

JOHN R. FELLOWS

sttrlct Attorney.
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ba adjnzfted 10 bail in tha sum of ' :
'cinf'd be committed 'té/the Warden and Kéeper of
give swch bail.
S .Eﬁﬁufsﬁce.
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THE PEOPLE COURT OF GENERAIL SESSIONS, PART III.

VS.

STEPHEN McCARTITY . BEFORE JUDGE FITZGERALD.

Monday, iay 11, 1891.

. Jointly indicted with John lieCutehen for grand lar-
i ceny in the second degree and receiving stolen goods.

Asst. Dist. Atty. Stapler for the People.

HMr. Lobenthal for the Defence.

FRANK §. HANNAH, sworn and examined by Mr.Stapler.
What is your oécupation Ae Clerk.
Where are you employed? A The Fall River line of
steamers.
What.are'yqur,dgties the ree A. Shoe clerk, to deliver
,éhoes-éa ﬁhé.ﬁéii‘ﬁiver Line;
Were &ou so employed there on the 13th of November last?

A. Yes sir.
Do you know George W. Seaman? A. Yes sir.
What is his business? A. T is a boss carman.
Do his trucks come to your whaprf and receive géods?

A. Yes sif,

You are in chafge as I understand, o? é particular depart-
ment, that is the shpe department? A. Yessir.
Do his trqcks go there to regeivevshoes? A. Yes sir.
Did they on the 13th of ovember comé there and get shoes?

A. Yes sir.

Dida tracek in the charge of John MeCutchen come there and
receive a case of shoes? A. Yes sir,
Can you tell the jury to whom this case of shoes was shipp-

wgggwhiﬁh.he took? . A. There are different’ iyms that




By ﬁhé tourt. Q. lave yoa got such receipt? A. Yes sir.

By pr.

Myr. S¥
Counse

The CO

he gets them for.

Can you recall at this time whether you delivered him any

shoes for Morse & Rogers? A. Yes sir

You delivered hh&:several cases on that day, did you?
A. Yes siv|
On the 13th of No?ember? A. Yes sir
You saw him putb this case of shoes on nis truck, did yoq?
A. No sir, I wont say that I saw him because i“do not
yemember, but he had the case on his truck ind signed for
thems.
Did you have a receipt showing that? A. Yes sir.
Please produce its A. I believe it is in Court.
Those are the forms of receipts which are signcd by the
drivers who rcecelve soods from youl A. Yes sir.
Have you a receipt signed by MeCutenen showing the receipt
of goods received by him on the 13th ofi liovember?
Objected to.

A, Yes sir.

Stapler. Q. Do you know that signature? A. Yes sir,
I do.
Whom did you see¢ sign it, the driver Tor Seaman?
A.'Yes sivr,
apler: I offer that in evidence.
n: I object.
Lrt: You can mark it Tor identification.
The receipt was marked Peoples' Exhibit A;
Stapler. Q. Do ybu remember what.time of‘day it was

those cases of shoes from you? * A. No sivr, I do




CROSS EXAMINED.
By Counsel. Q. You do not know Stephen McCarthy, do you, fhe de~
fendant? Y AL No sir.
You never saﬁ him? A. No sir, not to my knowledge.
How do you Xxnow that these goods came Tor the firm of
Morse, Rogers & C0., these boxes of shoes, how many boxes
' of shoes were there? A. I don't know anything about
r the box of shoes I do not know what I was 5ubpoenaed here
Il for in the first place.
Q.I Do you know what the contents of these boxes were?
H A. I do, to the best of my knowledge they were

Did you examine the boxes¢ A. No sip, I aigq

A+ No sir, I have not.

Q.|

Q.! You have been informed as to ihe contents, is that
i .
L
i How do you know, do you know what they contain?

Q.

A. I do not.

you can identify those boxes as the kind of boxes —~—w

By mr.iStapler. Q. You just put those boxes down there and see if /

d A. They are z2ll three shoe cases.
Lan you identify ihose boxes as boxes similar in appearance
to the boxes you deliverede?

Objected to.
Can you say whether those boxes are or are not similar
boxes to the boxes which you delivered to McCutchen on thaf
day? A. Well, I could no£ say that, I get those kind
.Of goods evéry day.
Court. Q. You have no particular reéollection of this day
as I undgrstand? ‘ A. No sir
Ybu:are-éiving ﬁs now your general knowledge of daily

‘ftrgnsactions? A. Yes sir, ‘every day i ﬁand1éHnine oy .-




$en hundred of those boxes, oOn this particular day‘I have
no recollection no more than my receipts show that I de~

1ivered those cases to Lic Cutchene..

HARRY B. DEVOE, sworn and examined.
‘By ir. |Stapler. Q. What is your occupation? A. Agent, express
agent. -
Where is your place of bus ness? 4 NO.3 ﬂudson S5t
Vhat is your business? A. FExpress busincss.
Do you deliver cases of goods that are brougtit to your
place to various parts of the city, is that right?

A. Yes sir,
Do you know & man named iicCutchen?g A. Yes sir, I have

seen him.

Do you know iir. Seamant A. Yes sir.

Did you know that icCutcuen was one of the drivers for
Seamang A. Not at the time, no sir,

On the 13th of November last did reCuteiien come to your

place with a case of goods? A. Yes sir.

1: The indictment is the 1l4th of November;

urt: I will hear you on that afterwards.

Stapler. @ On the 13th of November HcCutchen came to your

place with a case of goods? I A. Yes sir.

Go to those cases of goods amd pick out the one which e

brought to you on that day if you can identify, it as one of
them? a (The witness étepped down from the chair.and
looked at some cases.) Do you identify tha£.case tthat
ﬁccutchen brought to your place, just tell what he saiad to

R

you? A. Mr, ‘McCutchen brought the case on the 13th of




November, it had no mark.

Counsel I objeft. Objection sustained.

By Hr. Stapler. g .. What did yo@,do as the result of the conversa-

tion that you had with keCutchen?
Objected to.

t: Objection overruled; don't tell us ansthing you said,

only what you did.
Counsells Note an objection.
By Mr. [Stapler. Q. State to the jury what you did, is that your
writing (showing paper)? A. Yes sir.
What is the writing there¢ 4. McCarthy, 806 Eighth
Avenue.
You wrote that did you?. As Yes sir, after LicCutchen
told e
Counsell: I move to strike that out.
The Court: Yes, the box is not in evidence yet.
By Hr. [Stapler. Q, You identify that box as the box which iicCutchen
brought to you? A. Yes sir,
What did you do then with that box afterwards?
Objected to. Objection overruled.: Ixception.
A. I entered it on Blanchard's book and the case was
left there.
Where? Ao in the office.

You delivered it to Blanchard? A. Ben Blanchasd, h

works for his brother Steve Blanchard, he receives goods
there and writes them up on them leaves. (Pointing to
sheets of paper.)

gourt. Q. He receives goods where? A. At my express of-

fice.




What is the name of your express? A. Peoples' Express,
Are you a clerk? A. Yes sir.

_What is Blanchard? j A. Blanchard's City Express.
;n\the same building? Ae In the same place.

Wﬁén you got this case you made an_entry om Blanchard's
book? A. Yes sir

What did you ado? A. I left it in Blanchard's pilej
His pile of packages, his bundles A. Yes sir, in
his place.

In his compartment in your office? se Yes sir.
Stapler. q. Andvdid you sece the box againt A-Yes sir,
When did you next sce 1t? A. At #cCarthy's place,
You saw that box at.McCarthy's place’ 4. Yes sir,
That is the defendant's place’ A. Yes sir.

Where is that? A. 806 Fighth Avenue.

What time of day did you go tle re? A. It was in tle
evening sometime, late in the afternoon.

On what day? A. On the 1l4tn, the next day.

Who did you go there with? A. I went =2lone.

Just tell the jury what transpired, were you the [irst one
in there? A. No sir, when I went down Officer Healy
was there, there was tle two Mr. Secamans, Lr. Seaman and his
brother.

George W. and Gilbert Seaman were tiere and Officer Healy?2

A. Yes gir.

A

nad HMr. Coogan was tle ree¢ : A. I could not say whether

Coogan was there or not, there was some other sgentleman
»

there, a tall man, I don't know his name.

At the timényou'got there then these gentlemen were all in

_M;FQMéCarthy, the deféndant's place? _ A. Yes sir, in




MeCarthy's, the defendant's pPlace, they were just examiﬁihg

these goods when I got in there.

Where was the case, did you see the case, where was it then,

.- &« The case was out in the store.

Was there an, other case of a similar character there?

A. Yes sir, there was something similar to that. an-
? o 9

other shoe case.

You did not get there until they were actuzlly in posses~
sion of these goods ¢ L. Yes sir.

Court. Q. When you got there the next day did you see ieCar-

A

thy, the defendant? A. Yes sir,
Did you have any conversation with him?
did not,
Or hear anyﬁhing said in his presence? 4. No sir.
What was done with those boxes the next dayv Ao That box

was carried away by ir. Seanan and another man.

What condition was it in when % was carried in%——- the

writing that you spoke of was on that box that time?

A. Yes sir.
Where did they bring ity A. To the Leonard Street police
station.
What was done with ilcCarthy? e, He was brought along.

Did you hear any conversation on the way down?

A. I heard McCarthy say to Officer llealy —=-~- the

officér asked iieCarthy, he said something about being in a
pretty tight box; he (HMcCarthy) said yes, he did not know
how he was.going tQ get out ofnit --- iicCarthy said this to
Healy.

What did Healy say? A. He did not say anything to that.

A. No sir, theré was no other

L other conversation?

-

[
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1ate in the afternool.

Wag 1t dark° A. Yes sir,

'g Who told you to go there? N I went there of my own

e
31

-’,Ihls waé on the l4th of November, your memory is pretty goo

conversatlon.
Then you Jent to the pollce statlcn” A. Yes sir.
Were you bhere when the charge was made and the prisoner

held? ’ A Yes sir.

.

Anythlng sald there at that time A. No sir, nothing
tnat I remember that I could say.

CROSS EXAIINTD by Counsel.

You were a witness before Justice Powers, Wwere you :not?

A; Yes sivr,
on the oécasion you were a witness previous to iha£.you
were in MeCarthy's place, were you not? A. Yes sir,
Did yoa teil Judge Powers that you were & witness there?
A. I do not remember yhether I did or no%b.
D; yow rcmember Judge Powers asking you whether you went g
Mcoarthy s’ place? A. No sir, I do not remember.

Ig it not 2 fact that you aid not tell me on cross- —examina -

t?on that you went to MeCarthy's place with Oificer Healy
énd Mr. Seamant Ao T cou;d not say-
Now ybu are positive +that you were thére,bare you?
A. I am.
.ﬁﬁen aia you‘go tle re? 'A. Oon tie 14th day oi November

Yhat time in the day was it you went there? A. It was

What time was it2 M. I 0011d not say

i

Who dla you meet there? A, OfTicer iiealy and both tle

Mr. Seamans.

EMIETE I A . ..




MecCarthy was arrest was he not by Officer Healy and was
¥aken to the Leonard Streeti station house? A Yes sir,
Did you go with him? A. T diaq.

[

Who'was walking with reCarthy? A. Nobody.

ideCarthy was walking all alone? 4. No sir, they got ’

on the horse car.

Did you go on the same horse car? A. T did. i f
|

Who was with them? A, Nobody was with them.

You were with them, you were in the same company?

A. Yes sip, in the same company.
What part of the car were you sitting in? A. About the
center of the car, Officer Hcaly was sitiing next to me

and HcCarthy next +to him.

Officer Healy was sit.ing betwecen yYou and icelaprthy?
A e was.
Did you hear all the co nversation which took place between

them on that occasion? Ao Yes sir, pretty near

it.
And what you told the Judge just now is tirue? A.Yes sir.
Did McCarthy speak very loud? Lo Noi extra, loud
enough to hear.
Loud enough to hear? A. Yes gir,
McCarthy being a perfect stranger -to you, did you take am y
rart in this conversation? A. No sir.

Did not say a worde A. I did not say a word.

Did MeCarthy hear you tell the casc to Officer llealy?
A. I guess he did.

You are not positive, are you? A. No, I am not posi~

B

tive.

Youvsyear;iﬂat McCarthy told. llealy that he was in a tight




place? A. In a fretty tight box.

These goods, they were not concealed when you went there?
~A. Not when I?got there, no.

-?hey were in a conspicuous part of the store?

” A. Yes sir,

You are in the express business, you say?

For whom? A. For Studwell & Devoe.

Are you = member oOFf the firm? A. No sir.

What particular branch have you charge ol?
A. Agent and receiving goods.

Do you recéive all the gocds which cone to that express
officev A. Pretty near all ol them.
On the 13th of Noyember you say you vreceived that cuse?
A. Yes sir,

You are positive of the dateq A« I am.

Did you make a memorandum of it¢ 4o I remember tine

date very well.

Did you make a memorandum? A. On his book, on Blanch-

ard's book, it is over at thc express office.

Have jyou seen that box since the 13th of ﬁovember?
A. I have.

When was the last time you saw Fhat book¥

every day.

You are positive this was on the 13th day of November?
A. I am.

Have you looked at the entry of the date since then?
A. I cannot say that I have, I think I have.

You are_not positive, are you? A. No sir,

How many cases of goods do you receive every day?

s

A. I could not say.




HMr. Stﬁpler: I offer in evidence the case.

The collrt: Admitted.

Do you recelve a handred? A. Not guite a hundred, I

may some days.

Some days you receive more and some days less, is that it¥
s

AJ"YEE sipr, that is 1it,
Do you know how many cases you peceived on the 13th of
November? A. No, I could not say-
You may have received a undred or more on that day?
A. I do not t£+hink so, not on that 4day.

You do not know MeCarthy? A. I do not know him.

You never saw MeCartily until the 14th of November?
A. Not until thg 14th.

You arc positive +hat that case came in on the 13ih?
A. Yes sir.

Stapler. Q. You remember seeing that case on the

Novembeyr at eCarthy ' s A. I do.
And identifying it as the case you received on the previ-

ous day? A. Yes sivr.

Yherce is your place of businecss? ' A. No. 3 iudson St

Yhere is the rall River L.ine? A. Pier 28, North River,

l foot of iarray Street.

"Hy. Stapler: 1 ofier in evidence the writing on the case.

[

: Gounsge.
My. St

Counse

. I object to the writing.

pler: The case is olfered in evide ce.

. I object to soO mach of the case as far as the name Ste-

phen MeCarthy, Bighth Avenue, is concerned.

Al{hiéfplacc on Eighth Avenue, and under the circumstances

'f";tg#eg‘By'thiS'witness.v T will ovérfule'your objection amd

rt: This;cése ig found in possession\of the defendant in

Frd
B




By Mr.
Q-
Q.
Q.

admit the case in evidence and give you an exception.

JOHN PERKINS, sworn and examined.
stapler, : What do you do9 A. Driver,

P
Driver cmployed for whomY? A. Blanchard.

Where is Blanchard's express officev A, No.3 iludson Lt,
Do.you know the gentleman who was last on the stand, lr.
Devoesq A Yes sir,

He is the one in charge of that office, is he not?

A. Yes sir,

Did you receive on the 13th of Hovember a case ol goods?
Objected to as to the dat e. Objection overruled.
-BExcepti on?

A. Yes sir.

You reccived a case of goodsy A. Yes sir.

Will you please look at that case and see if youw can ida -

tify it as the case? A. No sir, I could not say.

Look at the writing on the front, does that refresh your

recollection? A. No sir, I could noi say.

You received the case of goods? A. T did receive a

case of goods.

How was the case of goods marked that you received?

Objected to. Question wiéhdrawn.

What did you do with thatc ase of goods? Ao I deliverad

it at 806 Eipghtih Avenue.

Court, What place? . A. Mr. McCarthy's.

0.
Stapler. Q. Did you see the defendant there at the time?

A. Yes sir,

Did you collect the expressage there:




How much was 1it¢ A, Pifteen cents.

Who paid it2 '_ A. Hr. McCarthy,

This defendant hére‘paid vou Tifteen cents expressage,

that was the regular charge, was 1t? A. Yes sir, that

was the regular charge.

Did you take a receipty Ae Yes sir,
Please state whether that is tThe receipt. (Paper shown
gto witness. ! 4. Yes sivr, that is the.roceipt.
That is the fifteecn cents charged and this is the address?
A. That.is the address.
Was that receipt signed in kir. McCarthy's presencesq
A. Yes sir.
Court. Q. By whom? A. By one oi his workingmen.
Stapler..qQ Lr. McCarthy paid you fifteen cents?
A. Yes sir,
You left the box with -:r. McCarthy¢ A. With LicCarthy.
Do you know anything more about it, what did you do, did
you go away? A. Yes sir.
Is that box similar to the box you leift there on that day,
does it look like it¥
Objected‘to. Objection overruled. Exception.
A. I could not tell you.
You @ uld not say? A. A. Mo siwr.
All you know is you delivered a box on the 13th of Novem-

ber and took that receipt for ite » A. I took that-

receipt for it.
gourt. Q. Did you have any conversation with McCarthy at the

time you delivered this? 4. No sir.

You jusﬁ.weht in and delivered it? A. I went in, took

‘./}fheareceipt and went out.




And got your money? Ae GOt my money.
CROSS EXAMINED by Counsel.

You also were a witneszbefore Judge Powers, were you nowtv

. . A. Yes sir.

Do you remember the First time you were in the private room

at the exanmination? A. Yes sir, I remember.
McCarthy was there on that occcasion, was he not?

A. No sir, not on the iirst day.

e e e

You are positive that lMclarthy was not there on the first

day? A. Ho sir, not on the first day.

There was some wiitness examined on that day was there not?
A. Not on that day, I came toomulate.

Do you mean to say that iicCarthy was not there when you

:
3

werce there? ] A. No sir, notthe first day.

Did you see me there- A. I seen you there.

Do you remember identifying me as LieCarthy? A. No sir.
Did not you tell Judge Powers that I was the man who gave
you the fifteen centst A. No sivr.

You are sure of that? A. Yes sir,

Do you remember me asking that question of you before Judge

Powers, whether you identified me as lclarthy? A.No sir.

I dida not? A. No sir.

Now I will readdycu these questions, I have gop a copy of
the minutes here, of the testimony of John Perkins, Novem-
ber 26. How many times did ywuw see me before Judge Pow=

ers? A. Twice.

The first time you were not examined? A, No sir,

The second-timelyou-Were examined, is that right?

A. The third time.




You were there threc times you say, is it not a fact you.
were there only twice? A. Twice, but one tine I came

therc too late.

Once you were there when you were not examined?

’

A. Yes sir,

How many times were you examined? A. Onece.
Do you remember seeing me more than oncev f. Ho sirp,
the last time I was there, twice a together.
Do you remember secing me in the litile Private office
where Judge Powers was sittingrdown theree A. Yes sip,
the Tirst time.
Do you remember Judge powers asking you to look around the
room to scc¢ if you could see eCartlhy? fes sir,.
Did you pick me out és Mre LcGarthy? A. No sir,
You are suré of thatv A. Sure of that.
And I never asked you that question before Judge Powers?

A. No sir,
I read from your testimony; "Join Per: ins called as g
witness on behall of the peoprle being duly sworn, deposes
and says. v Now here is one of the questioné which was
put to &ou befbre Judge Powers, "do you remember being here
last Monday a week ‘ago, inside beTfore Judge Powersw " Your
answer wvas, "yes sir." “Do you reﬁember on the Judge ask-
ing you if you saw MeCarthy before; did you fail to iden-
tif'y MeCarthy inside a week ago last konday? And did you
answer, "I did not look around, he was the rev. "How loné
.werg you inside there :last Monday week, about? A.About.
fifteeh minﬁtes, maybe not as long; Q. Diq not ycu identi-

fyvme as thefman that received the goods as being MeCarthy?

. A.No'sirp, I'Saiq he was a short, stout man like you."

ou remember these queétions;being_put to you before:




: o
judge Powers?

A. Yes sir, I\ remember that.one, I 4did not say you was
Mr.AMcEarthy‘though.
Do you remember identifying me inside before Judge Powers
as being iicCarthy? A. Wo sir,
Did not fou say he was a short man? . His workman-
who signed his name tq{the paper.
Thbée questions were put to you beTore Judge Powers and
tﬁose are your zanswers? A. Yes sir.
This lelCarthy, he iSnot a very short, stout man, is he?

A. Yo sir,
Stapler. Q What was the Sizme ol the workmany wasshe a short
stout man? 3 s sir, a short, stout man.
oY, Q. Who was‘there when the case of goods was delivered
by you? A. A few workmen.
Did mcCarthy ask you where the goods came from?

A. No sir,

gourt. @ What kind of a store does MeCarthy keep?
A. In a basement.

What is his business? 4. Shoe business.

?pler: I offer in evidence that receipt.

i: I object to it because the witness says that McCarthy
did not sign it.

1t : It was signed in lieCarthy's presence and Melarthy paid
the tiftcen cents.———— it may be admitted.

apler: The receipt is under the head of articles. ; the le®

ter B under the name of McCarthy. Address, 804 8th Avenuey

the figures 15 and the figure P --—- and under the head of
the signature of the receiver I shall have to leave that to
_the jury to tell what that is, I cannot read it, it is af-
] farently ¢ and an M, the letiers I shéuld not Llike to stata

The box is Péoples’ Exhibit B.
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MICHEAL HEALEY, sworn and examined.
tapler. g You are an ofTicer of the manicipal Lfor ce of
the city of Iiew York- A. Yes sir.

Assigned to what precinct? ~. The rifth precinct.

Did you go on the evening of the 14th of lovember to 306
~.Eighth Averue in this city? A. Yes sir.

Did you see the defendant taere, Stcpnen Heuarthy?

A. Yes sir

Who was with you when you went there? A. The two

ir. Seamans, ir. Coogan and another gentleman from the
nousc of Claflin & CO., whose name I do not know.

Is he here in coart? A, No sir, hc was Lrought from

te housc of Aaron ¢laflin & CO. to identify goods.

What is his namev A. ihat I do not know, I never
had any dealings with the gentleman since,

Tell the jury what kina of a place this 806 Eight Avenue
is where you found Mearthy® A. 808 is thce number,
it is in a basement on the corner of 49th Street znd 8th
Averue, a sorit of shoemaker's shop where there is foar oOr
five men euployed making shoes.

What is the name up before the placer A. NecCarthy --
tPhis ig McCarthy" on a show-case that stands on the head
of the s$tairs.

You went down stairs, whom did you find down stairs?

Ao I found Mr. McCarthy and four or five othier men

sitting around working there.

You found the defendant and three or Tour men working

sitting on shoecmakers' benches engaged in working on shoes?

A. Yes sir,




Tell the‘Juuy just what you said when you went down there
and what kMr. McCarthy saide 4. When I wenk in there

I asked ir. MceCarthy 19 iLir. HeCarthy was in® ie said he

was ‘the man. I says. "you are the man owns this placev

he says, '"yes air." I then took the warrant that I had

to search the premises out of my pocket and handed it to

Mr. MecCarthy and he apparently read it.

Counsel: I move to strike out Tapparently!.

The Gourt: Yes

Witnes8: Weol he looked at it and handed it back to me amnki says,

"well, go ahead, you will find nothing here, I have ot

nothing here only what T make up myself.v So I told Mr

Scaman and this lir. Coogan to talke a look around the place
and see 1if they could identify any ol their goods in the

place. While they were searching the place there was

a room attached to this store used as a sort of slceping
apartinent containing four or Tive heds. In that reoom

there was a lamp burning. As soun as I spoke to tictarthy

the lamp was turned down low; I then ealled somebod,; in

the back room to turn up the lamp; then I seen it was a
woman that was in there. Well, these people were serach-
ing and pretty necar ot through near the whole ol the store
I says to velarthy, “"you might as well give us that case you
have got here last night and save us the bother of looking
after it, I says, "if it is haré we will Tind it." Then he
says, "0 yes, I did Bet a case here last night", starting

into the back room. In this back room were four or Iive

beds; he'goes to the forst bed and turns it up from the

foot and at the head of the bed laid two cases; he brought

one case out; he says, "that is the case. When be brough

R
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that one out I says, "what is that one there?t Ile says,

"that aint got nothing to do with this." I says,"bring it

out and let usy have a look at it." I would not be posi-

tive whether upr. Meclarthy or some other genitleman drew the

case out. When we got it out in the hall it was identi-

Jried by both r. ZSeamans as the rroperty of Nathaniel -

,Fisher.

|
Gounsel? I move to strike that out.
The cou%t I will allow the answer to stand.

Counsclj Note an exception.

By mr tapler Q. Was thec other case opened, Officery

A. No siyr, neither one of the cases was opened.

e =S () N ¥

L
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lat did you do, you took the case out then?

A. We brought the two casces out into the shop and

I
!While the two iir.Seamans wore examining the cases some

otheyr gentleman, I would not be positive whether it was

!

lﬂr. Coogan or not turned around to the drawer on the side
f

!

and drew out one shoe which they identified as tlhe Prop-

|

;erty belonging to them cases.

]In other words, it was Tound that a shoe had been talen out
of one of the cases, is that itw A« Yes sir, and

rut inthis drawer.

Which case? A« That I would not be positive of.
Joreman. Q. Were the cases opened? As They were nailed

up when I first seen them, they were opened after we found

them.

-tapler- Q- Were eiher of the cases opened there that day°

A. Yes 51r, when we found them the both cases were
opened, afoer we got the cases we opened them to sge if

they were the goods.




You opened them to see whether they were the goods?

A. Yes sir,
Then what did you dé after that? A. I then told
Mr. McCarthy that T would have ito arrest him; he sald,
jﬁall right*; and I told ir. ZJeam:n to take the two cases
and put them on the car and take them to the Fifth Precinct
station house. , '
You identify those cascs as the cases which yowu saw there
in his place that day¥ fe Yos sir,
Please look at the other cases over therc and see if you
ecan identiry cither of those cases as having seen them be-
fore A. This is the onc that remained under the
bed.
gourt, Q.Is that the other case you have been telling
aboute 4. Yes siyr, this is the case laid on tihe
tom and this is the one on the top, this is the case
showed me first.
You identified that as the other one? A. Yes sirx.
Stapler, q. The other casc that you found there:

A. Yes sir,

Mr. Stapler. I would like to have that go in evidence,

The Cou

rt: I+ is not the box contained in this indiectment --- he

found it in that place.
Stapler. . You say this box was put upon the truck, did
you or did you not lcave with My. Seaman?

A. I gave then in charse of Lir. Seaman and Coogan to’
brihg them down to the Station House.
When did yoéu see it nexty A At ﬁhe.police'station,

:

it was seﬁ% to the property clerk's.

.

‘And}from‘there it came here? A. Yes sir.




court. Q Was. that box opened in your presence%

A. Yes sir,

Wheree oA After we had found it in lcCarthy's place

iﬁXQH pened it?;' . A. I did not open it, .

Tt was o?erné&”n@yourwp?eaeng ; : 4. Yes sirv, y
Wha%.was round ifT anything, in itY ’*YA; Et waawfa;};pf_
shoes -

Do you know what kind of shoesg A. No, I did not ex~
amine them; they weve men's shoes, still I éﬁ not positive
of it.

Byrilye {{Stapler. Q. What did you do with the de fendant lcCarthy
after that? A. I took him outside and got on an 8th
Avenue car and brought him to the yifth Precinet station
house.

Yas Mr. Devoe with yous A. Yes sir,

Did yourhve any conversation witn the defendant HeCarthy
onn your way down? _ A. Yes sir.

Tell the Jury what you said’and whap_hc said?

A. When we gpt on the car —--- when we came outside
he asked me to come down to the elevated railroad. I saild
"take the horse car and he would not get so mmich nptopiety
we gthon_a horse car. I says{‘ﬂpuey‘have gotiyqu
pretty tight.ﬁ ile says, "yes, I am in a bad box and I do
'nqj knoqnhqw I am going to st put,ofvit} I do not know how

to. get out of it." Then he did not say any moré or I to

‘him ei ther.
Xog?tqok_him_down to‘ﬁhqgétation house, did:you?

oAy Yes sir

oy —
poadale G . R

' And a chérge was made against him there? . . .4 Yes sim,

:o;gfthg;quggaquit was the man that was charged in the




court. Q Was that box . opened in your presence;
_A. Yes sir .

Whereo .. A. After we had found it in Mccarthy's place

1

You onened ite - A. I did not open it.
It was opene‘;ﬂ_‘you?*P?ﬁsﬁn&ﬂ . 4. Yes sir,

What was found if anything, in 147 A it,waggfq;;

shoes
Do you knov what kind of shoese A. Ho, I did not ex-
amine them; they were men's shoes, still I am not positive

of it.

ByriMr (Staplier. g. What did you do with the defendant McCarthy

after that? A. I took him outside and got on an 8th

|

Avenue car and brought him to the Iifih Precinet station
L & : :

house.

5
i
¢

Was Me. Devoe with yous A. Yes sir

Did youthve any conversation with the delTendant McCarthy

et R

on your way down? A. Yes sir,

Tell the Jury what you Sald and tht ne said?

e TP

A. When we gqt on the car —--- When we came outside
he asked me toO come down to the elevated railroad. I said
ttake the horse car and he wyould not get so muceh notopiety
we'got’on a horse car. I says, P@ney‘haveigotvyopﬂ
pretty tight(f He says, "yes, I am in a bad box and I do

not Lnow how I am soing, to get out of it, I do not know how

to$59t ogt‘qf itF" Then he did not say any more or I to
‘him ef ther:
You, took him down to_he station house, aid You?

A’¢_ Yes éir' |

And a charge was. mhde agalnst h1m thex@?
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that STOrE wriems o -
5 4 wern

tion, yes, he had received a c&sS€ the n
A. We were just about cntering the back
Q- || Just about going into the doore . A, Yes sir.

CROSS EXAMINED.

By Counisel. Q. You neveyr saw peCarthy befors this night, did you?

A. No sif'
vhat time ol day was this, Officer? A. About 4.30.
Light or dark? A. It was_lignt wiien we went in there.
Was the gas burningy A . This gas was burning in the
pack room, that is all.
Was the $gas purning in the storey Ae O
And this was on the 13th of November, 1890%

A. [t was on the 14th of Wovember.

ooy T

It was kind of dark, the days are rather dark about Tour or

4.30 in MHovember, are they notv¥ A. Yes sir, the

1ight was 1it after we were in the place a Few moments.

iicCarthy keeps his place in the basement, does he not?
A. Yes sir.

As soon as you went in what aid you dof?

for lir. HeCarthy.

e 4id not deny'himsélf? i sir. :

{
Did you tell him your business® 1 showed him thie

warrant.

e . N

.. Did not he tell you to look around tﬁg place and see
8 . 3 A X T-\

oala’find anything? " A, Yes sir.

s
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Did you do it A. Yes sir.
You did not findanything? A. Ve diad after.
Where were those goods foundg A. In the back yroom un-
der the bed. |
ione case on top of the other? A. Yes sirJf\
You are positiveg 4 4. Yes sir,
How are those rooms situated? A. It is a sort of back
room just partitioned off the store,
There is a door leading from the store to the back room?
A. I would not be positive if~there was a door, I do

-

not think there is, we walked in.

There was a space betweent A. Yes sir

Was not this space always open? A. Yes sir,

From the time you came in until you found these goods, aid
any of the men who were in the store leave ithc store to go
to the back room? A. Ho sir.

Was e Carthy in there!l A. Mo sirp,

Did you examine these beds? A. Yes sir.

You are positive that one box was on itop of the other and
these boxes were under the bed? A. Yes sir_
Is it not a Pfact that the cots in the back room are used by
workmen? A. You can call them cots or beds wipre
people slecp.

One 6f thesesméll beds or cots which is msed by 2 singlé
mang A Yesisiﬁ

Two boxes were under one of these cots? A. Yes sifﬂ

'

What condition was McCarthy in when you went from the stbre

\

_to the street? A. Apparently as he is now. ) o

i : A
Was he sober or under the influence.,of ligquor?

~

. A« Yes sir, he was scber to the best ‘of my judgment,.




‘Did no+t yoummake some threats, did not you threaten him
with imprisonme nt? A, No sir,

Did not say anything about going up the riverf

A. No sir,

You are sure of that? A &es sir,

Was McCarghy excited? A. He appeared a little
that way.
But he 4 d not put any+thing in the way of youyr going around
from one room to the other, did he¢ A. Wo sir

He was perfectly willing that you should make all the
search you wanted? A. Yes sir.

vou never saw lcCarthy before’ 4. Wo sir,

You 4id not know how these goods came fhere except what

you have been informed? A. Yo sir
i .

?ourt. Q- When you went there were you in uniform?
|

!

|

A. Yes sir,
Y
PATRICK F. COOGAN, sworn and examined.

Staplef’ :- wur. Coogan, what ig your business?

A. Jobbing in boots and shoes,
Wwhat was your bus iness on the 14th of November?

A. Salesman for Morris & Rogers.
Do you know this defendant, Iir. Stephen leCarthy at the
bar here; A. I have seen him at the court, he has
been identified as eCarthy.

Did you see him at his place No 806 Eighth Avenue on_tm

evening of the 14th? ' A . I did.

.

Look at that box of goods anl say whether or not you havel

. B |
gseen that box of goods before, that is Peoples' Exhibit B?

. ) N
A. Yes sir. , v




Yhere did you see that box of goods? A, I found it

just as it was being brought from under liecCarthy 's bed or

cot.

The defendant HcOafthy was presént? A. Yes si?.
Did you open the case at that time and examine it§ﬁ§on:
tents; A. Yes sirvr, ‘

Tell the jury what you found theres . I found four-
teen pair of men's calf shoes invoiced %2.60, $38.40, be~
longing to Morris & Rogers.

They were the property of morris & Rogers, were they?

A. Yes sir.

what was done, did you see the other case opened theres

i A. Yes sir
Counsell: I object as to the other case.
The Court: I overrule the objection and give you an exception.

2

»y Mr. |{Stapler. Q What did that case contain? Ae It con-
tained eleven and a hall pair of shoes, there was an oéd
shos, it was found out in one of the drawers of the store
proper.

You identified that shoe as the mate of the shoe in that
other case? A Yes, I did.

And that shoe was found in the drawey of MeCarthy's store
proper? As The store proper.

By the |fforeman. Q. How man, pairs of shoes aid that other case
contain? A. Pourteen pairs,

That was full A. Yes sir,

Stapler,d' You were*pfeéent during this investigation in

McCarthy's store, you saw the search being made there?

A. Yes sir.

You saw this case brought out Trom under the bed in the




back room? A. Yes sir,

ourt. Q. Who composed the Tfirm of HMorris & Rogers at that
timeq 4. D.P.Morris, Daniel P. Horris, he was the
real member of the concern.

To whom the property belonged? A. Yes sir,

CROSS EXAMINED.

sel . Q. Vas there any other member; A. He was the
sole partner, special partner in the concexrn.

Who were the general partners’ A. There was no gener—
al partners |
And he does business alone under the firm name of lMoyrsds,
Rogers & €0.°¢ A. Yes sir, Morris & Rogers -

-

Is ir. Rogers living? A. I believe he is-
Is he in any wa&y conﬁccted with that business?
A. Not that I know of.

Where did you get the information thati Deniel P. Morris is
the only man who constitutes the firm of liorris & Rogers?

A. I have becn with Mr. Morris ever since he started
in business, about seven years.
At any time during the seven years was iir. Rogers connected
with the firm¢ A. Yes sir,
-Up to when? A. Two years ago last Jamaary.
Did any other person take his place inthe £iym?

A. No si%, not that I know of.

You can't swear positively of your own knowledge that

Daniel P. Mrris is the sole owner of the business of siorris

& Rogers? A« Wo sir, I cannot

Mr. Coogan, you first went to MeCarthy's place &l one, did’l

i
|
1
!
|
i

you not? A. Yes sir,




And di d you ask Mr. McCarthy to show you or sell you a
pair of shoes; A. ves, I asked Firgt if Hr. MeCarthy
was in and McCarthy came up and said, "I am Mr. ¥elarthy. ¥
I said, "I would like a pair of shoes.®

Did he not tell you he only sells his own make%

A. He did not say anything of the kind, he saidq, "I
:will see if 1 have any to fit you"; he started to A nd a
5 Pair and then the officer came in.

You heard all the conversation which took Pplace between the
officer, Mr. Seaman, iir. Devoe and MeCarithys

A. Yes sir, about all.

iDid you ride down town in the same care A. Yes sir.
Were you sitting near iicCarthy? A. No sip, I was

on the front end of the car.

What do you mean, inside or outside} A Outside.
ileCarthy and the officer were insids) A. Yes sirp.

The case of siwes, did you see them inside in the room,
the two cases of shoese A. Yes sir,

What were they under% v« Under a sort of bed or cot.
About how large a cot was it ¢ A. Large enough for one
Do you tell this Jury that those two cases were one on top
of the other under this cote A. I did not say so.
Then you saw the shoes aftcr they were brought from under
this cot? A. I saw them as they were beinz removed
from under the cot.

MecCarthy did not deny himself, his identity? A. No sir,
He did not conceal anything, did he, he told the officer
to 'look around, did he not? A. At first no sir, he

N

denied all knowledge of having received épy case of shoes

at all that day.

R T




" You 4o not know where those goods came from and he did not
gsay he knew? A. T do not know where they came from.
Stapler. Q. Tell the Jury what was said when you went in?
A. When the office£ came in I asked him (the{@éfehdant)
if he received a case of shoes tﬁat day; he said he did

not; then when the officer showed him the search warrant

and told him he was about to search the place, ke said,

"go ahead." We were about to go into the rear apartment
separated by a board partition when HcCarthy said, "0 yes,
I did receive a case yesterday, I do not know where it came
from, I thought my son possibly might have bought it and
sent Pt wp to me, I paid the charges on it and put it away-

Was that all that you heard. S Ao That was 211 that I

heard.

nsel. Q. Who was present when he said this? A. The two
Mr. Seamans, the officer and iir. Devoe.

How was it ithat the officer did not tell the Court and Jury
about thate A. I am not swearing for the oi'ficer, I
am swearing for myself.

“You mean to swear that iMcCarthy told you that he paid fif-

teen cents cartage? A. I did not say anything of the
sort, I said McCarthy said he received a case.
Did lLicCarthy say that to you and was the officer present
when he told you that and also ilr. Seaman and Mr. Devoe?
A. Yes sir,
Mr. Devoe and Mr. Healy the officer, were upon the stand,
you heard their testimony, did you not A. Yes sir,

You heard what they told the jury, what .conversation took

S

place between McCarthy and them? A. Yes'gir.




They did not say anything about that, did they?

A. I know that -

DANIEL P. HMORSE, sworn and examined. .-
stapler. Q.What is your occupation Mr. orseq

A. I am in the shoe business, wholesale shoe

business.

! what firm are you 2a member of, what is the name of the

£irm? A. Morse & Rogers.

VWhat 18 the number ofiithe plaw atb which they do business®?

A. 134 & 1368 Duane Street.

;Do you identify that case of goods there right before you,

i have you scen that case of goods Exhibit B¢

. s g, & 4 . . P
A. I cannot identify it as having seen 1%, no sir

I Mr. Coogan wWho was just here was in your employ on the

1 13th of November, Was he not? A. Yes, he was-

And he went as your representative up to MeCarthy's place,
yes sir,
He was. slaesman in your place at that time?

A. Yes sir,
Are you the sole member of the firm having a property in-
terest in your asiness, #ire. Morse; A. The sole
general partner, Yyes sif.
Your name is Daniel P. liorse, is it not.

A Yes sir.

sel. g. Who cohstitutes the Tirm of Morse & Rogerse

A. Myself and a special partner by thie name of Ches-

ter C. Corbin.

And he is known as the special partner 5f tﬁq_firm of Mor se

X

S
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& Rogers. A. Yes sir,

By the court . é. Do you know & man named John McCutcheon?
|

By“Mr-\Stapler. Q. Mir. Seamal, what is your occupation?

A

A. No sir,

GCEORGE W? STAMAN, sworn and examined,

A. Carmals
! Where is your place of businesa? A. Yo.130 Duanc street

office

is that at +he office of lorse & Roggrsi A. Mo sir,
that is my office.
Did you on the 13th of Wovember OX about th

at time, were

you employed by iorse & Rogers 1O deliver to tnen from the

steamboat wharves 00ds shipped ©O them? A. Yes sir.
pDid you or did you not have in your employ on the 13th of
November a Man named Meteheon as a drivery

A. Yes sir,
Did he oY did he not on that day have echarge of on
truéks? A. Yes sir.
pid he on that day go to the Fall River Tine for the purpos
of receiving goods for ilorse & Rogers? e le aid.
Did you se€é ﬂim come to the place ol iiorse & Rogers at

Puane Street with a load of goods on that day?

A. Yes sir.

Dida you or did you not. £ind that there was any discrepency
in the numbey of cases'of goods whieh he delivered the%e:

OBjected 1o as 1leading. Objectionnsustained/i‘

Just tell the Jury now what if anything you found out ih

- \'\ N .
reg?pd €o the number of cases wvhich mcCutcheon ———
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Qe

Objected to as leading. Objection sustained,
A. I found out

Tell the jury what you did afier e Cuteneon delivered, made

! o gelivery of cases of shocs at Lorse & Rogers on the 13th

of Wovember or after that?
Objected to.

A. I was informed by the express man My. Devoe

Court, . You had a conversation with ir. Devoe, is that 112

A. Yes sir, lUr. Devoe
And was it in relation to HMcCutcheon that conversation,

did he talk about licCutcheont A. He came around --—=-

bid he talk about rieCutcheon? A. I do not know what the

name Yase.

e talked about your driver. A. Yes sir,

Did he give you some information A. He did.

In consequencemof tne informati on thét you received fom
this young mal, in consequnce of what was told you by lir.
Devoe did you do enything yourself, or go any place?

A. I went around to the egpress office.
What express officer A No. 3 Hudson Steet.
Who keeps that? . A. A general express office.
Is that Blanchard's express? A. Blanchard's express:
In the same building? A. Yes sir.
Who did you see there A. I saw mr. Devoe.
And had a talk with him? ' A. He asked me irf the goods

were all right, I iooked at them, I says, "those goods)

have been stolen.' !

rt: Sty ike that out .

\

“You went around there and you had a @onversation with him?

i .
' A. Yes sir.

|
i




Yhat aid you do after that, not what you saf&,Awhere did

you go? A. I went and had rcCuteheon arrested.

&ou'went 4o McCutcheon's place? A. I went and got an

-officer and had McCutcheon arrested.

After you had Mc(Cutcheon arrested did-you speak with him?
e Yes siri

Did you get somé information from him? A. Ho infox@a—

tion at all.

connec*ion with this mattere A The officer took
HeCuteheon around to the express office.
officer iiealy t00k MceCutecheont A. Yes sir, I walked
along.
What did you see? A. I saw a case of goods that he
should have left at Liorse & Rogers.
Isthis the case? (showing case.) A. Yecs sir.
Stapler. Q. You Tirst saw this case at MeCarthy'se

A. Yes sir/
You saw another case; A. I saw a case in the express
officer
And you saw +his case where? (Pointing to a case. )

A. At licCarthy's.
After you found +the other case where dia you go with the
police officerse A. I went to the Leonard Street sta-
tion house |
Eggaﬁ’ To the Leonard Street station house with MeCuteheon,

is that right A. Yes sir.

After that where did you go'with Officer Healye

A. I went back to my business, they told me to be

over at the Tombs at one o'clock.

What was the next thing that you dida yourself alter that ini

|




You went to the Tombs at one o'clock, did you?

A. Yes sip,
And after you £0t through at ithe Tombs what dig you then
do? A. I went up to McCarthy's place.
With whom dia you go? A. I went with the olficer.-
Officer llealy was on the stand here, was that right?

| A. Yes sir, and Mr. Coogane.

Mr. Coogan who has been on the standy A. Yes sir, and
my brother.
You got +to MeCarthy's Place, you went down into the place,v
did you? A. Yes sip.
WVhat was said to ileCarthy when you went ing?

A. HMr. Coogan went down Tirst and then the officer and
I went ‘down; aftor they were down in there the officer
done all the talking; he got one. case.
We would like to know vhat was said, just %ell the Jury
what was asked of HeCarthy when the officer went in?

A. The ofi‘icer went down first.
Were you with him when we went downy A. Ho, I wal ted
about a eeuple of mimites behind him ———-— just as I was

going down he handed the summons back; he says, look

larouna there. That was the first I heard. McCarthy saidq,

"I haven't anything only what I make myself, my own make.
Did you look around? A Ve looked aroung, and made
quite a search around in the shop, I saw nothing in the
shop only what look apparently his own make. When he (the
officer) told him he was after a case of goods that he
received, he denied it ‘Fipst and Tinally he acknowledged

it and then went through this baek room and under the bed

he showed those two cases.-




And those cases were brought out in your presence, were
“they? A. Brought out and opened.
Do you remember what was found in those cases?
A. Yes sir,
What was found in that case? A Shoes,
Do you remémber how many pzirs of shoes were founde
A. I did not count them, ir. Coogan examijpcd thems; be-—
cause he 1is more familiar with them, iir. Coogan attended to
that.
And Aaid you see the other case opened<
Objected to. Objection overruled. Iixeeptio n.
A. Yes sir.
And what did that casc contain? A. The case contained
twelve paifs and one shoe was in a drawer, Hlr. McCarthy
at that time said he had a shoe there. That was put in the
case and the officer told me to takethem to the station
house, I done so.
That shoe was the mate of a shoe in ithat case?
A. Yes sir, in that case,
That shoc was in Mciarthy's storev A. In the drawer
he pulled out.

What ‘did you do with those two cases after that, were they

nailed up? A. Yes sir, they were drove together cenough

to keep them togethef and the offiéer told me to take them

to the station house.

Did you take them to the station house and leave them there,
A. I left them at the station house.

You know that on the 13tﬁkbi‘ﬁovémber HeCutcheon got cases

of shoes for you from the ¥all River Line, do you'not, for

}Morse & Rogers, A. Yes sir, I.dos
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Q. |l Just explain those marks,

Fourt. Q@ Are you familiar with them, A. Yes sir, I
| paid the freight on them.

|

By Mr. Stapler, 0.

By the

How is the case markedes A. That is iorse

& Rogers, 134 Duane Street.

A« This isthe

What are the Tigures, Sive the figuresy

bill number, 7255,

WVhat is that other number, A. They have two nmibcrs,

that is the stock number, they have the stoek namber and

the case humbey.
What is this., A. laehine sewed.

' What isg this, read it Se That ig Supposed to be four-

teen Pair, it ig blurred, it looks 1like thirteen pair,

men's pat. calr,

By the! - &e Tave Yyou explaineq all tie marks on that you un-

derstand, wvhat are the meaning of thoue numbers?y

(Pointing to the case.) . A. I do not understang

that.

Do you receive any Paper when yon receive these goodse
Ae I reseive a freight bill.

r'responding

|
|
|
|
|
!
|
i'
|
/
|

Is there any number on that freight bill co

with any nmumber on that box, do You recognize that rapery /

A.Yes sim, "MoCutcheonq _

(Handing witness g bpaper )

where he signed 1+.

A

Do you recognize ievuteheon's signatures A. Yes sip.

That was the load of‘goods he rereiveqg on that day for you
Ae. Yes sip. .

Cén you tell from that what do those numbers meap?

A. Those numbcrs»are the cgse numbers which are put on .

the case —--. 7255 to 67 is on the freight receipt.




He received that number of cases? AL He received that
number of cases but he Tailead to deliver them to the store.
case here Peoples' Exhibhit B one or the cases or
A Yes siy, |
I oi’fer that receipt in evidence e

Counsell: I object to the admission of that baper in evidénce, the

Court overrules the objection and the Delendant's Counsel

J excepts tothe ruling of the gourt .
1

CRO35 EXAMINED.

By Counsel. Q+ llow long was MeCuteheon in your employe
f!
i
? the busy season.

L. Tight or ten weeks, he was only an extra driver Tar-

e was 'Tormerly in your employ before that or your broth-

Qe

|

|

f er'se A. He has been off and on several Talls workirg
! . ;

| Tor me,
Q.i For how many gjears on and off was he in your employ or your !
| brother's employe A. I should think four or five !
!
| yYears.
Q-Jl When was the first time you ever saw McCarthyy
A. That was on the 1l4th of MNovember,
Q-l When was these goods first missed? A. We missed them
on the 13th of November.
Q«ll When dia you ascertain that they were missing?
A._On the l4th we misseqd another one, that made two.
Q. But MeCutcheon received them on the 13the 4o e re-
ceived‘on the 13th one and one on the l4th.

Qs { Then on the 1l4th you ana O:figer Healy and ir. Coogan went

up to MeCarthy's place? A. Yes sir.




~Q. |i You never saw MeCarthy before? A. No sir,
Q

D meera e et

. ‘Wgo went first down to McCarthy's store, you Or the officer

A. Coogan.

Q. || How long was nhe down there before the ovfi cer went down?

(N

A. e was not down long for he was only just:maybe
twenty, thirty or forty feet alead of him.

How long was he aown there, bwo or three minutes:y

A. It might have been iwormor threc minutes.
After Coogan who went, the officer- A. The officer
‘went dovine.
ifow long was the officer doin berore',ou war ty A.
on the other side of the street, as long as it took
walk over to the other corner.
i Probably two or three minutes% ' A. Two or three minutcs
What was the officer dolng when you wen{ down?
A. The officer was standing up and eCarthy was handing
1im back his paper.
| Are you hard of hearing: A. Not very.
fi You are a little bit hard of hearing, are you note
A. IT tpere is a good deal of noise I can’'t hear
mch.
Was there any qoise down in HMeCarthy's place?
A . Not that I know pf only the shoemakers pounding
awaye.
lmwmmwnwnwmewomhm? A Idewtcmmtumm
there seemed 10 belfour-or five.

Did you do any of the talking to MeCarthy or did officer

Healy do it all? A. Healy was the man.
You did not partalke in the conversatidnithap took place

between Healy and MeCarthy, A. No sir




na3g

e 1

{

Did you see the ofjicer come ih the back room?
A. Yes sivr

Was the space open or was the door open? A. There was
place for a door whether there was & door or not, I could
not say; there was a passageway there open.
Did you see any person in the back room? A. I did ﬁot
I was not locking for anyone. L
But when you came in first the officer and lLir. liecCarthy
were speakinge A. Yes sir,
And sometime after that they went in the back room, is
that it? A After he told hiﬁ to look 211 around
the front there
Then they went to the adjoining roomt ' A. went through
to the other room.
Was there any person outside, licCarthy, Healy, yourself or
Coogan® A. Not that I know of.
Did you see a light in there +to00% A. I %as not looking
for any lighi, I was watching on the docr more thm any-
thing else.
You do not know whether the light was put out or put down?

A. I could not say, I was not looking for lights.
When was the first time you went to the back room?

| A. That night.

How long were you in the place when you went into the back
room? Ao I'did not time it
Ten, fifteen minmates, half an hour or an hour, how long
about? A. I was not there no hour.
Who went in first tov#he back room, McCarthy or the offi-

cery A. HcCarthy turned the bed down.




And then who rpoduced this box, McCarthy or the officer?
A. HeCarthy.
You did not see where thi box came from, 4aid you?
A. I seen icCarthy turn ﬁhe bed down and he goes
later and he pulled them out.

Was it a cot or a bed? e I did notexamine it, it

was a matitress or sométing.
MeCarthy did not put anything in the way of you and Healy
or the other man looking around the place, looking foxr
goods, did he¢ A. Ho sir.
He was very pleasaﬁt about it? A. He was very pleas~
ant about it.
And did you also go down to the station house with himy

A. I took the goods down.
You took the goods down As. Yes sir,
WVere you in the same car that Healy and the officer and
Coogan went down inft A. No sir,
You heard no conversation which took place between the of-
ficer and pcCarthye A. No sir, not after that, not
after they got outsidé-
Stapler ¢, Youdid not tell McCutcheon to give that case to
Devoe, did youe A. No sir,

GILBERT SEAMAN, sworn and examined,

Stapler. Q. What is your occupation, Lir. .eamane

"A. Carman or truckman.

You say you have truckse A. Yes sir.

They are employed in the delivery of property to

this city? A. Yes sir.

\

Do'ybu know the defendant, Stephen maCarthy;.did\you}evSr




see him before? A. I saw him up to his place that
nnight.

What night was thate? A. Thé 1l4th of November.

You were there in compény with Whom3 A« With OfTicer
ﬁealy and kir. Coogan, whatever his‘name is, and my brother

G.W.Seaman. P

Anyhody else tle re? ) A. I think that was all there wa.

I wish you would recollect and tell us whether there was
anybody else beside those gentlemen, you think that was all
A. I think that was all..
Tell the jury everything that you heard said by the offi-
cer or by McCarthy, everything that was done by anybody
there during that time s near as you can recollegt it?
'A-'I went there with the oificers and those gcnilemen.
you speak of; Lr. Healy, the officer produced a search
warrant and Mr HMeCarthy said that he had not anything
there only what belonged to him, and the oifficer said he
would have to search the place; Hr. McCarthy told him he
could search the place. They st arted through into the
back room that went out of the store and as they did I
think r. MeCarthy pulled the bed over himselfl or tore it
off; there was two cases of shoes under the bed.
Prior to going into that back room they had searched the
store? A.iThey might have locked around among the
shoes, I did not take much interest in it as far as the
search was concerned.
You saw these two cases underneath the bed, you saw them
produced and brought 6ut,’yoa saw them opened, you saw

“that they conta ned something? A. Yes sir.




Lo Fetorinterar e s o -

They contained shoes, each ctase containeq shoes?

Objected to, - Objection overruled, IExcepti on.
You identified that case as the case you examinéd there:
A. I cannot s& I examineq it, I saw it was g case
i marked N.TFishep & Co., it conta ned twelve Pair of men's
shoes.

You say that this containey shoes alsov A. Yes sir,
,‘You identifieq that as the Property of Natheniegl Pisher &
To. ? A. T identifiea iz as being marked N. Fisher

& Co., it ig Supposed to he theirs‘.
; What dig you do after that? A. I did nog do anything
| after that.
| You went away to the station houses Al I went awvay.
With whom, with your brotheye A. No, while they were
getting the cases out I went honme, that ig all I know about
it.
CROSS EXAMINED.
By Couﬁsel. Q. Were the cases opened while you were tike re, lNr.
A. Yes sir, they were opened.
Did you examine them?A Ae Mo, I qig not examine them.
McCarthy was very Pleasant about the mattere A. 0O yes:
He did not o neceal anythings A. No, I could not sgy
that he dig,
Hevhimself went into thé back room ang showed those two

cases? A. IT I am not mistaken I think MeCarthy

bPulled the beg round himself.

Nobody asked him to 'do it? A« I would not say as to

1

that.




By Mr. Stapler. Q« You hearg him say there”that there was nothing
i ) .

/ there when you went in though?

Objected to.

|

Ao T coula not say Positively to that, the officer wmaq

him was talking,
When you first went in dia you hear them say anything,

that he did not have anything? A. I think he saiq

| What He had belonged to him, were hig own marafacture,

something like that..

%el, q. There were four or five men working the rgg
A. Yes sir'

In the back bart of the store or the room back of the

A

store, men sleep thereé A« It -looked like g Place

where they lodged, a table there, Something of the kind.

WASHINGTONS. WEEKS, sworn and‘examined.

Qe ilr. Weeks, what is your Occupationy

0.

A I am g clerk for MNathaniel Fisher & ¢o.

Were you so engaged on the 13th or on tre 14th of Hovember

around that time last year? A. Yes sir,

Qe §| Wil You please look at that ecase Nearest to yuoy tlere of

goods and say if you identify that?

Counsel: I object to that Ffirst upon the. ground that that case is

not. a questiop bBefore the Jjury. now; furthermore, the wit~

ness now upon the stang ig a witness in another matter

which

is the d efendant upon a charge or receiving étolen goods,

and the case of goodé‘which the District,Attorney desi res

the witness +to identify isg the subject matter of that

\

is s+i1l bPending in this gourt in which Mp. MeCarthy -

|
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Proceeding.

The Cotirt: There is a yule in relation to guilty knowledge that

o o

applies peculiarly to cases of receiving stolen goods, I

S

will_hear you in relation to that. There is a rule of

evidence which Provides that similar transactions may be

~

R

testified to in or about the time, not for the pu-pose of

T

establishing the charge in the indictment but for the pur~

pose of ehabling the jursy to get at the s5%ie question of

guilty knowledge and I bresume it is in that view of the

e
P S

question that this witness is called.

The evidence of all the witnesses which have heen put on

e

Counse:

T

the stand this moming by the District Attorney is that at.,

the time this one case of goods was found Which belonged to|

the Tirm of ilorse & Rogers, there was another case of goods |

The Colirt: Note an excention.

&

{
| .
Dy Mr.fStapler. Q- Will you look at the box nearest to you and say

;if you identify +that box of goods as a box you have seen

Ibefore, where you saw it and as %o the ownership of the
|

jproperty contained in that box? A. This case I saw
I

1

rup at the police Headquarters, I went up there and identi-

fied it
Qe On what day-: A. It was about ovember 14 or 15, I
! would not say which, around there.
;f Please tel:z %he jury whose ‘box of gocds .that ise
Objeéted to. Objection overruled. Exception.
A. Thiscase beléngs io Wathaniel Pizher & CO. from

Maynard & Washburn, Claremont, N.i.




HARRY B. DEVOE recalled by Mr. Stapler.

Mr. Devoe, did 1iecCutcheon come to you on the 14th of No-

vember, the day after the delivery of that case of goods

to you¥ A. Yes sir,

Did he bring yoa another case of goods? A. Yes sir.
Look at that case of goodsover there in the cornep'and see

if you can identify that as the case?

pa

i

S

£l

Objected to. Objection ovecrruled. Exception.

A. That is the case I received on the 1l4th.

Is there any mark on that case as to where it is to go?
A. Yes sir,

tir. Stapler: I desire to0 prove by this witness

The Qoﬁrt: The defendant is not connec te.. with that box,

Mr. Stapler: Not yet; the fact which I now desire to show 1is

that the witness brought a box of goods the next day and

it was directed to ieCarthy.

The co&rt: That is not propexr,

Mr. Stapler: I desire to have the witness say what became of that

case of goods.
The co?rt: Do you propose to connect it with the delendant here-—
|

aftere

My. Strpler; ¥hat I propose to show is that it was intercepted in

the hands »f Lir. Devoe by Hr. Seanan.

The Colirt: You have %o connect it in some way with the defendant.

Mr. Stgpler: I am unable to do that. That box cannt go to the
I jury with a mark on it?

The Colrt: NO-.

Mr. Sthpler: I now move to amend the indictment by inserting th?///

- : i/ .
13th instead of the 14th of November. ' /4 :»/
c . - B . _// i 7
Counsefl: I object to that. ) .

i
v




ler: To conform to the proof under the authorities I sub-
mit to yoar Honor that I am entitled to the amendment.
t There are two ¢ ocunts 1in the indietment, I presume you

are going to the jury on which c¢:unt?

N

1er; Receiving stolen goods if your ijjonor requires me to

elect.

t-. The evidence in relation to other acts does not apply
$o the larceny; you can go to the jury in rclation to
lstolen goods. What is the amendment you desire?

ler: My amendment is to insert the 13th in place of tle
14th in the allegation which says that’on the day and tle
year aforesaild having been allege d as the 1l4th of Novembexr

1890, I desire to amend by striking out the wor & *1l4th"

land inserting "13" in its place.
I

" gounsel: The gourt has not the power to do that.

The Court: In the case of the reople against Jackson, 1llth Hew
York, 1 ecall your attention of Judge Danforth. The mo-
tion to amend will be allowed and an exception given to
the Defendant's counsel to the ruling of the ourt,

ler: That is my case,.

The Cas® for the Defence.

Counsel I ask your Honor to instruct fhe jury to acquit upon the
ground that the evidence as produced before the jury varies
with the ihdictment. The indietment charges the de-
fendant with receiving e®ihteen pairs of shoes on of about

the 14th of November 1890, from the firm of Daniel P. Horse

while the evidence, and the only evidence which is before

‘thé’Jury»and your Honor now is that in céhe thgre was any

. 3
| Y
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shoes stolen or received by this defendant there was four-
teen pair of shoes and that was the property of iorse &
Rogers.

rt: I will deny the motion.

I. As Tar as the number of shoes are concerned also?

rt: Yes sir

~

: I have a further motion, there is no evidence here, your

.

Honor, to show that the defendant had any knowledge that
the goods in question were stolen.

rt: It is a question for the Jury; if they come to the
conclust on that there was not, they must acquit.

1: Note an exception.
1

Counsel opened the case to the jury.
EDWARD TIMP3ON , sworn_and examined,
nsel, Q. What is your businessv A. Real estate agent,
How long have yoa knowvn him , HHeCarthy, the defendant?
A. Pretty nearly thrce yearé.
Where do you 1 e A. I live in tie city of Rlizabeth,
that is my home, my office is at 800 Eighth Avenue, Hew
York,
How long have &ou been tle : A. In my office,
number of years,
You say you know MeCarthy about three yearse
A. Yes sir

During that timre have you come in contact with him, seen

him often? A. ¥very once in a while.

What is his repuiation‘as to his character and honesty?

A. I have never heard anything against his reputation.

Vhat is it do you know? Ao I suppose it is good.
. \ .

\




And do you know that this is the first ﬁ.ﬁe hé has ever
peen charged with any crime’ A. I suppose it is, I
kxnow nothing at all about that.

You are his landlofd, are you note 7 A. Yes sir,

" CROSS EXAMINED.

Staplef Q; vour connection with him has been merely és\a

tenant, has it note A. That is all.
In paying his reng, you rented him this place?

A; No, I did not rent him that place, I rented the
whole of the building to Mr. Calrk and he sublets the

basement, Kr. keCarthy has a floor in the same house,

HYERMAN UPENHEIM, sworn and examined.

nsel é.Wha; is your business? A. I am a leather mer-

chant.
Where’ A. No. 426 West 52nd Street.
How long have you heen tle rei A. A 1little over Tour
years,
Are you personally acquainted with mr. McCarthy, the de-
fendant?. A. Yes sir.
And for how 1oﬁg have you known him¥ A. About four
years,
During that time hgve you done any business with him?
A. Yes sir,
In what way, selling him? A. Sold him goods,

Vhat kind of goods? A. ATl kinds of sole leather and

shoe uppers, whatever is included in our line-.
Do you know as to his general character for honesty and
truthfulness? A. I always counted it excellent, very

.\»

goode ' ™,




You had considerable business transactions with him?

A. Tvery day.
‘Did you ewver &0 to his place of business corner of 49th
Street and Fighth Avenues A. Yes sir,
Do you know how those rooms are located? A. Yes sir,
How ére they locatede A. One room where the workméﬁ’
work and there is a back room where they eat and sleep,
the workmen.
Do you know what kind of beds, what are they, beds or
cots? A, Cots,
And do you know how muach space from the bottom of the cot,
from the floor to the bottomg of the cot abbut?

A. iaybe about fifteen to cighteen inches.
Look at those two cases, do you think you could put one on

top of the other? A. No sir, you could not do it.

Do you know of your owvnknowledge licCarthy has another placcl

of business¢ A. Yes sir,
Do you know where McCarthy generally goes to atitend to0 his
business: A. He changes off.
CROSS EXAMINED by Mr Stapler.

You hgve known him.simply I understand in selling him
goods®? A. Yes sir, I spoke to him most every day he
comes to my place. .
In comnection with selling him goods'I understand?

. AL Yes sif.
'In regard to this back room of course those beds could be

changed, a bed could be made up on two hoxes I suppose?

A. If they were twice the size I do not think so.




M0
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D WILLIAM J. ALLEN, sworn and examined.
sel. Q. What is your bus iness? A. Grocery business.
Where do you keep? A . 774 Eighth Avenue,

Wnat street is that between? A. Between 47th and 48k
Street§

Do you know MI-. McCarthyY A. Yes sir,

Tow long have you knowr:thim? A. Over three years,
During that time did you have any business transactions

with him ¢ A. Yes sir,

llave you always found him to he an nonest, upright man?
2 2

A. Yes sir

tlow is his general character, good oOr had?
A. His general character is good.

Do you know where his place of business isé

A. Yes, corner of 49th Strect and Eighth Avenue.
Have you ever béen there? A. Several times.
DPid you ever examine the bhack roomr A. Ves sir, I
have been in there,
What is in the back room do you know? A. Therc is a
cooking stove there, a table and a Tew cots, maybe two or
three or more.
And who occupies them? 4. The men that generally
works for Tjim I should think.
Did you see those itwo cases of shoes this morning here?

A. Yes sir.

In your opinion do you think you could put one on top of the
other under a bed in the back room? A. I do not think

you could put one undere.




HENRY MILLER, sworn ajid examined.

sel. Q. Mr. Miller, what is your bus iness? A. Butcher.
Whereaboutse ' A. No. 774 Eighth Avenue.

Where is that, near what street? A £. Between 47th and

48th Streets.

Do you know Mr. McCarthy? A. Yes sir.

A

How long have you known him? A. Three years,
During that timé have you had @y business transactions
with him® A. Yes sir, every day-.

Do you know his gencral characier around the locality
thereé A. Yes sir.

What is it? A. Very good.

Were you ever down in his place?¥ A. No sipr.

Stapler. , you sell HeCarthy meat, do you? A. Yes sir,

PATRICK E. MATTHEWS, sworn and examined.

lsel Q. Where do you live? A. IOt Avenue and 42nd
. Street.

Are you acquainted with Mr. McGarthy?

How long have you been acquainted with him?

A. About four years,
During that time did you have any business transactions

with him? A. Not directly, only he made a Tew pair of

shoes for me.

Do you know anything as to his general character around
there, as to honesty, straight forwardness, etc.?
A. Yes sip

What is 1it? A. ¥First class.




You never heard anything against him? A. No sir,
Do you know if he has ever Leen accused of any crimes

A. Not to my knowledge.

FRANCIZ A. CLARK, sworn and eXéﬁined.
By Counsel. Q@ VWhere do you live, Mr. Clarke 4. 185 East
95th Streetf
Are you the landlord of ip. HMeCarthy, the store occupied
by him corner of 8Sth Avenue and 49th Street?
A, Yes sif:
Are you also the landlord of the Property formerly occupied
by him in November at the corner 6I’23nd Street and 3rq
Avenue? A. Yes sif.
How long have you known ir. MeCarthy? A. Between
three and four years,

How long did he occupy that store corner of 2iind Street and

Third Avenue® A. Less than a year, ten months.

“hen did he give it up? A. He gave it up on or about

New Years.

Prior to November or any month inside of the Year did you

see Hr McCafthy? A+« Yes sir, I used to see him,

How often? A. Two or three times g week,

Where did you always see him? ' A« The time he kept at
22nd Street and Thivrd Avenue he was more there thah he was
on 8th Avermie beczuse it was a new Place and he was try ing

to push his business there, the other was an eéstablished

Place.

He was most of the time there, was he not? A. Yes siy.

You have had considerable business tranéactipns with'
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Mr MeCarthy have you not? A. Not any more than hle
was a tenqnt of mineb and I always found him to be a good
tenant and prompt pay, a very honorable man as far as I
knew.

As to his diaracter, you never heard anything?

A I never heard a word against him only Wﬁsﬁt I heard

good about him.

Stapler, Qd Your relations were with him as landlord and

tenant in paying the rent? A. Yes sir,

JEREMIAH HcCARTY, sworn and examined,

sel, Q. Are you in the employ of Stephen Mccarthy.:,

A. Yes sir
What do you do? A I work for ilr. McCarthy shoe-
muEking,.
How long have yoii worked for peCarthy? A.Two years
off amd on.
In Hovember, 1890, last November where were you working?
A. I worked for ipr. ieCarthy 8ih Avenue corner of
49th Street.
Do you remember while you have been in the employ of ir.
McCarthy has there been any shoes come down there now and

\

then in cases? A. Yes sir

How often? A. Very often.

From where? A. I could not say from where, but I
have known a good many cases come in there from time to
time.

Do you remember two cases of shoes coming to MeCarthy's

store in November, the 13th, 14th or 15th, arocund that

neighborhood? A. Yes sir.

1




Who received theme A. A man by the name of George

Rush.

Where is he® A. I could not say exactly now

where he is. 7 )

Was MeCarthy there at the time¢ A. No sir,lnpr Mrs.

lieCarthy. -

Were you there when they came thareé A. I was,

And who brought them down? A. Two boys brought them

down.

What did he say? A. He wanted the eXpress money for

them.

And who paid him the moneyy A. I£ was I.

How much adaig you payhimi A. Pifteen cents,

Was uCCarthy thereé A. Mo sir,

Vho signed the name on the paper?> A. George Rush.

MeCarthy has another store on Third Avenue and 22nd Street
A- Yes sir, under Mr. Clarin.

Where was he most of the time?

|
was between the !

two stores, off and on .
Where was he on this day the goods ecame in there,
A. I could not swear.

He was not there% A. No sip.

CROSS FXAMINED.
By Mr. Stapler. Q. How many times did you pay fifteen cents for
casesé A. Maybe twice or three times, that is all.
Where was the case brought down stairs, into the store?
A. Brought into the little store and then brought back J

into the room.

Where is Rush now? A. I could not exdctly say that ine

deed. -




There are cots in the back of that room? A. There was
two beds and acot that I lay on and the two cases were
between my bed and the wall, they were not under the bhed
under any consideration. .
How many men were working for the deTendant at thatp- time?

A. He keeps generally from seven to ten men;-he has
seven men on now.

Do you remember how many men there were in November?

Ae I think there was ten men.

He manufactures shoes? Ao Yes sir,

sel. é_ Dé you use gas there or oil, where do you get your
light from? A Trom gas.

Is any kind of a lamp therev No sir, there is gas
novw.

Is there gas in the store and is there gas in the adjoining
room? A. Yes sir.

What isnin the adjoining room? A. There is two beds
and the cot I lie on.

Who sleeps therer A. There is four men and I sleep in
the foom.

When this ease of shoes came there who received it, you

say you dia¢? A. Né, George Rush received them and I
paid the mone& for them.

What did George do with the shoes? A. He put them back

into the room.

In the adjoin ng room? A. Yes sir,

Mr. and Mrs. McCarthydon't live there, A. No sir, they

‘do not.

Do they go in there?




They do not eat theres A. No sir,
gourt. q. This basement consists of a work shop, ig that ite
As There is a partition that separates the work shop

from the dining room, there is a door at one side, we 80

in and out through it.

~

Who sleeps there at night? A. Four men aﬁd'myself-

Do you eat there? A. Yes sir,
Who prepares the foody A. Hrs. HeCarthy.
You remember these two cases coming there, do you?
A. I do, sir.
Do you know who brought them¢ A. I eannot say, I know

it was a boy or two boys.

Did - they say anything? A. No sir, they only wanted

express money.

Where did you get this fifteen cents? A. Tht was part

3 /
of my wages

Part of your own moneys A. Yes sir.

You took it out of your own pocket7

paid the boy.

What was done with the goodse A. They were put back in
the room,.I could not say what was in the boxes, they were
not open to my gaze.

When did iieCarthy come in? . A. About an hour after that ,
I told him the boxes came andll paid the freight money for
them .

What daid you say? A. I told him that the cases came in
and that I paid the freight on two boxes.

Did you show them to him? A. Yes sir.

What did he say? : A. He said it was all right.




wWhat about your fifteen cents? A. He gave it back to

me.
You said boxes came there frequently? A. Yes sir,

About how often would they come?y A. I could not say

exactly.

How often in a week or month? A. They may éé&e two
cases a month.

Was MeCarthy there when they came? A. He was there at
the time some of them came.

Where were those boxes lef? A. Sometimes they wrre
1eft in the store and sometimes they were put in the litile
room.

Did you ever see oOne of these boxes open? A. Ho sir,

I did not.

How many boxes did you see come there altogether?

A. I never saw any of them.open.
Did you ever see aly of them carried out of that place?

A. I did not, I sat at the side door of 49th Street,
my back is turned.
Bub you saw them coming in? A. Those boxes 1 saw come
in.
Did you ever see any of the boxes that you saw comne in op-
ened? A. No siy
Did you see an; of them go ouﬁ? A. Fo sir,
You only know that they camg; A. That they came,

They disappeared you never knew how?. A. I did not, I

did not inquire into it because it was not my bus iness.




DANIEL PFARRON, éﬁorn and examined.

A. Yes sir,

By Counsel. Q. Do you work for McCarthy, Farron?

Q- || How long have you worked theres A. Over a year.

Q- _Where? A. Croner of 49th Street and 8th Avenue.

~

Q+ || Do you remember in the month of Wovember a case oFf goods

coming in there delivered by a boy? A. Yeos sir

Were you working there that day¥ A. Yes sir,

Was LicCarthy there: A. No sir.

And who paid the fifteen cents? A Jerry LlcCarty.

What became of the cases? A. They were put inside.

And how long after they were received did ieCarthy come in.

!
{
]
!
!
!
i
|
Who was thereq A. The workmen. l
i
|
i
|
|
i
]
I
|

A. I could not say.

MeCarthy had another store at that time, did he not, corner§
of 22nd Street and phirad Avenue§ A. Yes sir,

He devotecd most of his time over there¢ A. Generally,

f
|
yes sir., g
!
|

Did you sleep in the back room? A. No sir.

What did you use, gas or a lamp? A . Gas.

CROSS EXAMINED by kr¢Y Stapler,

What time did this box come in that you refer to?

A. I am not quite certain.

You can't tell when it came in, you do not remember what

time of dayv A. No, I do not.

Do you remember more than ope case coming there?

A. I daid not notice.any more.

You only noticed one case coming there and you can't tell

us what day it was? A. No sir.’




All you mean to say is that once while]you were tlere a
case of goods came in and somebody paid fifteen cents for
it, that is all that you can testify to¢ A. Yes sirmp,
that is all.

Were you there at the time that 'the officers came theree

A. Yes sir,
hese cases were in the back room werc they not, ét\that
times A« Yes sir,
Was there not é lamp in tha back room that day?
A Gaslight.
Foreman Q. Who put this case in +the back room?
A. One of the men.
The expressman or one of the workmen? - of the
workmen, I guess George Rush.
Did amybody tell him to put that in the back room?
A. Not to my knowledge. .
Why did he put that back there?l' . but of the way I
suppose,
;. How many men were vorking there that dgy in the sho
A. I am not quite sure, probably six or seven.
Is this a large shop? A Pretty large.
Why did he pui thembaék theres
Objected to.
Do you know where George Rush is ¢ - A. No sir.
Do you remember when you saw Gebrge Rush last?
A. I do not.

Do you remember seeing him after this day that the goods ar-

rived there: A. No,sir

‘s
When did George Rush leave the employment of the defehdant? i

i
e




A. Sometime around that time.
Do you remecmber the day the policeman was there?
A. Yes sir.

Was (eorgr Rush there that day? A. I do not remember,

TLLEN LIcCARTHY, sworn andl examined,

By Coumnsel. @, Mrs. MeCarthy, you are tie wife of the rrisoner?

Mr. St

By Cou

A. Yes sir,
In November, 1890 how kany siores did #r. MeCarthy have?
A. Two, one on the corner of 49th Street and 8th Ave.,
and one on the corner of 22nd Street and 3rd Averme.
Where did Mr. McCarthy spend most of his time for tle
yeare A. 22nd Street and Third Avenue.
Why did he devote most of his time over the res
Objected to.
A. Because he had opened only a short t ime.
Do you know amything about these shoes coming in that
place in the month ol Movember? A ., No sir, I know
nothing about them coming; we used to get goods from auc-
tion.
apler. I ask that that be sricken out.
nsel. Q. On the 13th or 1l4th of November, 1890, was lr.

MeCarthy at tle stére corner of 49th Street and 8th Avenue

or was he on the corner of 22nd Street and Third Avenue?
A. No sir, he and I went down in 22nd Street and Third
Avernue that evening.

How many days did you generally get there during the week?

A. Mr. HMeCarthy was there every day hgd I went there




two or three times a week.

What time did he geherally get over there? A? He got

over there toward twelve o'cloek and &ot home again about

half past eight or nine. ST

Mrs. McCarthy, do you usec gny lamps at this store 49th

Street and 8th Avenues A. No sir, gas.

All gaso A. Yes sir,

What was in the adjoining room to the storev
beds and a cot.

Occupied by whom? A. Five workmen.

Do the workmen use any lamps tlerev A. No sir,

WVere you in the siore on this day when Officer Healy came

i
{ there to arrest your husbande ) A. Ho, I came in just

; as they were going to leave.
sz When they were going to haave; A. Yes gir.
Q-‘ Was there any lamp there on that day¢ A. No sir, gas-;
Q1I You saw the two cases whiech have been up here? v
i
|

Q- Dia you ever see them befores A. I saw them in the

l A. Yes sir.

back room at thie end of the bed, one cnd of the bed, it
would b4 impossibelfor them to be put under the cot-

Did you speak to 1np. MeCarthy about those casesy

A. No sir

. You were not there when they came nor was Lir. lieCarthy?

A. No sir,




STFRPHEN McCARTHY, sworn and examined.

By Coﬁhrel, Q. Mr. MecCarthy, you are the defendant?

Q.

L. Yes gir, .

What is your businesse . Manufacturing, shqajnaking,
ecustom shoe m& ing. v
Where; A. On the corner of 49th Strect and 8th Ave ,
at presenf.
How long heve you.been there? A. Over three years.
In November 1890, did you have any other place of business
beside that? AL I aia,
Where? iA. On the corner of 22ndvstreet and Third Ave.
on the east side of the street.
MeCarthy, &id you ever see the boy Perkins who was upon tle
stand who swore that you gave him fiftcoq cents?

A I'did
Wheree | A. I seen him on the stand.
Where else did you see himv A. At thhe Tombs.
Did you ever see hiin at your place corner of 49th Street
and 8th Avequen A. I never secn the boy 1till then in
-my 1life.
Did you ever pay him fifteen cents ¢ A. I never paid
him one cent in-my 1ife. ‘
Did you receive these shoes? A. I never received tle
shoes and do not know one thing about them no more than the
mannin the moon.
On the 13th or 14+th -of jovember where were you in the af-

ternoon? A. Down on the cornerx of 22nd Street and

Third Avenue.

“

What time did you generally sget there: " A. I got there




some days at half past ten, after breakfast, and seen to

the men in Bighth Avenue, I would get home at half past

eight or nine generally, sometimes a little later.

You devoted most of your time to the 3rd Avenue storee

~

A. On Third Avenue, it was a new place to me and I had

to stay tle re

Did you ever seé those goodse A. I never scen them
goods in my 1life.
Until wi=sn¢ A. Mever secen them not yet.

Did you ever open the casess A. I never opened the

i cases in my 1ife.
Will you be kind enough to t&ll us what took place when

Officer iicaly came down there or when iir. Coogan came down

!
|
i
?
|
!

there? A. HMHr. Coogan came down, he first went down
stairs and 1 was just going up to my place~of business, 1t
was probably five o'clock in the afternoon; the gas was

2ll 1it down stairs and the men were all to work,; he went

down and I right down after him. Says I, Ywhat do you

wish?" e says, "I want a pair of shoes.% Said I, "what
size do &ou wear?" He told me he wore a pair of six's and
I-showed him a pair of six's With.black bottoms, my own
make. . He says, "this is not tle kind of shoe I want, I
want a different shoe to this." Well, said I, "the shoes
that is here Tor sale is all my own make and I can't show
you any different to that."

What occcurred then? A. Pinally in comes the officer
and afterwards the other gentlémen followed.

What conversation took place between you and the officer?

A. The officer asked me, Yarc you the proprietor?"

Says I, "yes," "You are Iir. McCarthy?" Saide, "yes",




: c,"— -1 - ’”“

and he handed me a warrant. Says I, "what is this for?"
. Now he says, "you have got some cases of gshoes here, where
are they?" Well, said I, "just take a seat a moment till

I it this gentleman with this pair of shoes he wants, ¥

Says Coogan, "I want no shoes, it is with these men I am."
Well, said I, "there is a couple of cases back", thiéﬁing
they came to me from Richard's, I did not look them over,
I took him back énd showed him the shoes; there was an-

other room belonging to Mr. calrk with a lock and key on

it where he keeps his beer. I said, "gentlemen, O up-
stairs and see 1T the key is therev; they went upstairs
and it was closed; fianlly they broke the lock open, I
says, "go in and see for yourselves, go right through the
place and if there is more there you are entitled to take
them with you. The gentleman who was on the stand can
tell that just the same.

Yhere were those shoes Tound¢ A. Righi by the side ofé
the cot bed in the back room.

Two casese A. Tdo cases,

Were they openg A. liever opened in my presecnce unless
whien the gentiemen opened them thomselves.

You never saw them before: A..I never secn them before,
Yesterday the officer said while he was in the store some-
body turned the lamp down in the rear, did you ever use any
lamp theree A. I have no lamp at all, I dare not,
having the place inusred have lamp in there.

What did you use? A. All gas.

How o0ld avre ydu A. I am fority-two going on forty-

three.

‘can you writeo _ A. Yo sir,




Did you ever sign that receipt A. Never in my l1ife.
Have you eéver been arrestedy A. No, never in my
life.

-
A. MNever accused of
any crime in my 1ife,
l

Do you remcmbor & conversation whieh took 1L

/yourself and Officer Healy when you went down town on the

ace between

i 8th Avenue cgp to the Leonarqg Street station iouse.
A« I do, yes.

Did younte1rz the officer and iir. Devoe You were in g tight
1 fix ang You knew ite A No sip,

I never said any-

¢n you and the officers
He said, "thig fellow who has taken the shoes gave
eéverything away. Said I, wyho is that, I woulg like to

Officer Healy and me hadnno more

/ know the ones says thig.n
]

.|

conversation,

You aia not say that to hime A. I never said anythingi
of the kind.

CROSS EXAMINED.

By lir. Stapler. Q. Your bPlace at 22nd Street ang Thira Avaenue ig

in a basement similayr to the one you have herev
A. Yes sir,

You manufacture shoes,

that is to say you made tle se shoes7
A.

Hade my own shoes fop customers and for manufaectupr~

Avenue, werpc you not?




And sometimes in the afternoont A. Not very early
because the workingmen coming home I would wait on them
corner of 22nd Street.
You were fTregquently at your place in 49th Street?

A. My TFfrequent place was corner of 22nd Stxeé%\and
Third Avenue. |
Bat you were ét the other place, were you not?

A. Sometimes when I would leave in the morning I
would have supper and would not come down.
Sometimes you were there at five and $ix o'clocke?
A. Sometimes.

You were there in the afiernoon when you were arrested be-
twegn Mive and six o'eclock? ~ A. I was there that af-
ternoon.
How large is your store 49th Street and 8th Avenue, does 1t
cover the entire space of the building? A. It covers
the whole entire space ¢f the building underncath.
That is twenty-five feet I suppose is 1t notv

AA. I believe it is twenty-five feet.
How deep is your place tle re? A. I cannot exactly
say, over Tifty feet I @hink.
The store is ITifty feet? A. Mo, not the store, the
back room.
The store is about how many feet deep? A. I do not
know, probably twenty;five feet.

So that you have a place in front twenty-five by twenty-

five, is that right?' A. Yes sir, about so to the
i

best of my opinion.

And the rest of the space is occupiedey this place where




thes& goods were, is occupied by the room where tk se goods
were found, I want to get at the sixe of the room back of
the store? A, It is fully as large, not quite as large
as the front. '
There were beds there as I understand it¥ A Thp?e we s
two beds and a cot. |
How many workmen did you have there at that time?
A. I had seven men, I hardly have any less than from
seven to ten working for me.
They made shoes whieh you have sold, as I understood?
A. They made the shoes I have sold.
You saw this gentleman there who tcstified on the stand,
Mr. Coogan, did you not, thec two Lir. Seamans, the officer
and Lir Devoev . A Yesvsir,
They were in your store as they hgve testified, at that
timeé A. They were noi all at once, they came in
afterwards though.
They made an examination of the place as they stated?
A. With my consént right away.
Do you remember secing a shoe Tfound in one of your drawers
from this box of goods? A. I did not have it in my
hand, they told me so.
gourt. Q. Did you.ever see those twd boxes before that time?

A. Never, your llonor in my life.

Who was the first person that showed you the two boxes of
shoesé A. A man by the name of'Geoxge Rush, I used to|
buy goods down town.

When did you first see these boxes? A. One hour

‘or an hour and a half previous to those.pcople coming there-

o




You did not see thm before that? A. Not previous,
“who

George Rush said there was a couple of boxes; fee paia for

them, "says I. He said, "Jerry did"; that was the first T

knew about it, I did not know about it no more than the

man in the moon. PR

Did you pay him the fifteen cents? A. Yes sir,

Where did you think those boxes came Trom?

A. That I ecould not tell till I would find out from
' the owner.
Did you examine the boxes? A. I did not simply be-
cause thpy were not mine and I knew.I had no right to exam-
inc them,
When the policeman came with the warrant to lokk ior goods
what did you say to him¢? A.T told him, "there is a
couple of boxes back, I took him back and I produced them
right away, no hesitation about it.

Do you know how these boxes happened to get into the bed-

room? A. George Rush carried them in from the ex-

pressman. There are so many men working there that any-
thing that comes in is in the wa,; and it has to be moved out
I put all the men I can get in there.

Did you ever put boxes in there before? A. Several

times when shoes would come in they would put them out of

the men's way.

Did you look at the marks on these Dboxess A. I did
not, I 4o not read and write.

You did not o en tlem to see what was in them?

A. No sir, iudid.not open them.

<

". Counspl: " That is our case.
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REBUTTING EVIDEKCE.

OF¥FICER HEALY , recalled.

?tapler. Q. Officer, can yourfhrow any light. on this ques-
[ J
jtion in regard to that lamp or light, did you mean yoysay

{ L
there was a lamp or aiad you mean to say the light went

———

down? A. On the table there was = lamp in that
| room and there was a woman, who the woman vwas I do not know

{
! but it was not lirs. MeCarthy because lHrs. ileCarthy came in

afterwards.

e U

Q. | You say there was a lamp there; A. Yes sip,
By a J%ror- Q. Was the gas from the brackef? A. The only gas
I seen was in the shoe shop proper --- they mang down low
S0 that the men could get close to‘the war k.
Qe J| Was it an oil lamp¥ A. Yes sir, I should Judge it
was an oil lamp. -
By Mf.hStapler. Q. Mr. gcCarthy'says that when you came in he told
i you these pgoods were back there, is that true?
A. No sir, he did not tell me until we had searched

the store; then I told him he might as well give me that

I
I casce that.he'had gotten last night, if it was there we wouil

find it anyhow. He says, "yes, I adia get one case

last night.v

\

By Counsel. Q. Did you look at the woman who was in the rear?
A. No sivr, 1 4did noi pay miech attention to her.
'Did the woman come out of the room into the store ---- how

long were you there altogether? A. I should judge

hal to three quarters of an houvr.
You say when you were in theré there. was a woman in the

vy

rear? A. Yes sir.




It was not kis. McCarthy A. No sir.

flow do you know, could you distinguish through the opening

there. A. I seen the woman and. while I came out

into the Front room Mrs. MecCarthy came down stairs with a

lot of uppers in her hand.

~

She came down when you were about to go¥ A. Yes sir.

Where was the lamp? A. It was oj a table, the table

was in the back room on fhe otler side ol ithe stove; there
was a stove and a couple of beds as near as I could judge.
What became of the woman? A. She went out into the
rear yard, she may have come back, I did not pay any atten-
tion to it.
Did you see a door through whiech you could go from the rear

room to the yardy A. Yes siv.

Was that open? ) A. It was open at one time because

- Mr. Seéman went out.
Is that where :lcCarthytold you Clark keeps his beer?
A. No siv

“as there any door where Clark keeps his beere

A. Yes siyr, the door was locked, we could not get the

key, he said, "that door belongs to Hr. Clark, I have got

nothing to do with it and he keeps his beer in there.®

The Jury disagreed, ten being for convietion and

two for acquittal.

R T P T e e e e 1

vaar.
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Sec. 192.

ITY AND COUNTY)
OF NEW YORK, (%%

An information having been laid before

of the City of New York, charging - KLt otk L L Sl - .Defendant  with

the offence of

and he havmg been brouuht efore said Justice for an examination of said charge, and it having been made
to appear to the swtlsfactlon of said Justice that said examination should be adjourned to some other day, and
the hearing th

Street, by occupation a.. e CE T . &Surety, hegeby ]omtly and scverally undertake
that the above named. L At o e e s 3
/' L Q ¢{,

..PoLICE JusTICE.
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holder within the said County and State, and is worthzZ
exclusive of property exempt from 9ﬂi0n, and over and above §

and that his property consists of
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District Police Court.

THE PEOPLE, é&c.,
ON THE COMPLAINT OF
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Vermont Valley

MARKS AND NUMBERS. || g e 7\\[\ o
ARKS eeeived & .
X\ \\Q\RS(\:\T‘\ Q Under the contract hereinafter contained,the property mentioned DNgw, marked and numbered as per margin,

. in apparent good order (eontents and value ubknownd. viy
Rates T‘MWN 20w 37 b A5 T beceriv avoitr S

1o S 5,\,& per 100 1bs,| —
1st Class.| 2d Class)| T§Clusn. 1th Class.| Special.

= AN\ Rof oSy

Weights and Classification subject to
correction.

Charges Advanced, $.

—

To be transported by this Company to and there delivered tm\k)%’h‘(—\m R. R.,
. 5

for further transportation toward destination Q§ -~ agsigns on ent of freight and charges therefor.
$7:)31

3 G

If thelr ultimate destination be beyond the&)olnt for which Bil is 47 , they may‘bmveredto

t: and the carrier so selected shall be regarded exclusively as the agent of the owner or consiznee. Buch carl ubject to the lmitations and exceptions con-
tuined in this contract, shall be bound to deliver sald goods in the same order and condition as vthat in which it received them, and the ultimate carrier to deliver
th%m at its sr.intt.ion or wharf to the consignee or his assigns, if called for by him or them, as in this contract provideds he or they paying freight and charges thereon,
and average, if any.

d% is mut-;u\lly agreed that the lability of each carrier as to goods destined beyond its own route shall be terminated by proper dellvery of them to the next suc
caeding carrier.

he carrier shall have liberty to transfer the goods to and transport them by lighters, barges, or any other vessel,
in any situation, and to sail without pilots.

No oarrier, or the property of any, shall be liable for gold, silver, precious stones or metals, jewelry, or treasuro of any kind, bank notes, securities, paintings, or
atatuary; and other articles of great intrinsic or representative value, will only be taken upon’ tho representution of thetr value, and by special agreemsnt assented
to by the superintendent or general freight agent; or for uny loss or damage arising from any of the following causes, viz: fire, from any cause, on land or on water;
jetti{son, ice, freshets, floods, weather, pirutes, acts of God, or of the country's enemies, riots; collisions, explosions, accldents to boilers or muchinery, deviation,
atranding, straining, apny accidents on or perils of the seas or other waters, or of steam or inland navization; restraints of government, legal process, claims of own-
ership by third parties, accidental delay or quarantine; want of proper cooperage or mending, insutficiency of packuge, in strength or otherwise, rust, dampness,

. loss in welght, leakage, breakage, sweut, blowing, bursting of caslis or packagos, Trom weakness or natural causes, evaporation, vermin, frost, heat, smell, chuflng or

ul decay or exposure to weather; or for loss or damage of any kind on goods whose bulk or nature requires them to be carried on deck or on open

cars; or for the condition of packages, or any deflciency in the contents thereof, if receipted for Ly the consignoes as'in good order, All Tiability under this bill of
lading shall be estimated on the basis 'of the actual market value of the goods at the place and time of shipment.

No responsibliity will be admitted, under any circumstances, toa greater smount upon aoy single article or package of frejght than $400.00, unless upon notice
glven of such amount, and a special agreement therefor.

arnish, turpentine, camphene, burning fluids, acids, inflammable goods, or other dangerous articles, may be transported, if the carrier choases, on open curs,
on deck or elsewhere, and they shall, in all cases, be at the owner's risk. If any such articles be secretly delivered to the currier, the shipper shall Le responsible for
any damage resulting therefrom, and such artlcles may be destroyed by the carrler, without incurring iny liability therefor.

All articles named in this bill of lading are subject to charges for necossary cooperage and repairs. No lability shall exist for wrong carringe or delivery of goods
mtlu'keél ‘\‘V;ltél inmul?l or imperfectly marked, uniess name and addross of consignee be given at time of shipment; such marking being agreed to be taken as proof
of contributory negligence.

nless written demand for damages shall be made upon the company liable therefor, or upon the company which actually delivered tho goods, within ten days
atter dellvery, all claling for damage shull be taken to have been waived, and no suit shall thereafter be muintainasble to recover tho same. ‘No agent or employe
shall have authority to waive such demand.

If o carrier shall become llable to pay anything on account of goods which have been insured, it shall, to the extent of such linbility, have the right of the in-~
sured as agalnst the Insurer.

In case of loss, detriment or damage to thegoods, or delay in the transportation thereof, fmposing any liability lereunder, the transportation company orcarrier
in whose actual custody they were at the time of such loss, damage, detriment or delay, shall alone be responsible therefor. The usual receipt of uny carrier for
the,izoods shall be prima facie evidence of the conditlon in which he received them, in a suit aguinst any other carrier,

The zoods shall be received by the owneror consiznes at the_ station or whurf of the carrier at the ultimate point of delivery, and if not taken away within
twenty-four hours after their arrival, may, at the option of the delivering company, bhe sent to a warehouse, or be permitted tolie where 1anded; all at the ex-

. Eense and risk of the shipper, owner or consignee. 1f no nddress of a person it the ultimate point of delivery immediately entitled to such delivery be disclosed
y this bill of ludlnﬁ’. the same must be furnished Ly the shipper, owner or consignee, in writing, to the terminal carrier before the time at which in ordinary course
of iransportation the goods can arrive at such point, A failureto do this, orremove the goods within twenty-four hours after their nrrival, shall, in case of an
?g&sggl‘lgilfrloss of or injury to the latter, be treated as conclusive prool of negligence on-the part of the shipper,
ury.

e acceptance of this bill of lading isan agreement on the part of the shlp{xer, owner and consignee of the poods to ubide by all its stipulations, exceptlions and
conditions, as fully as if they were all signed by such shipper, owner and consignee. This i1 of Jading is signed for the different carriers who may engage in the
K\’:‘il%%%rst‘léﬂog. severally, but not jointly, and each of them is'to be bound by and have the benefit of nll ihe provisions thereof us if signed by It, the shipper, owner

0.
This bill of lading shall have the effect of a spocial contract, not linble to be modifled by a recelpt from orany act of an inte

ciaep.. . In Witness Whereof, bills of lading, all of this tenor und date, have been signed, one whereof being accomplished, the others
to'stand vold.

1y other carrier,to be transported to such ultimate
3

and shall huve liberty to tow and assist vessels

owner or consignee, which contributed to such

rmediate carrier.

NOTE.—This bill of lading is to be used for all business,
excepting that to the West by trunk lines.

Agent.

v
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Police Court i ict. Affidavit—Larceny.

ity and Qﬁmmty } .
of Wew YPork, ™ (*F°

being duly sworn,

0at the City of Hew York,
in the Goynty of Hew York, was felonicoush, Y laken, stolen and carried away frem the possessicn of deponent, in.

time, the Jollewing propes. Ly, niz .

%
s
S
N
S
s
o
Y
S
3
N
3
=~
S
hd

& does Suspect AKAL the sauZ ,wg:gjzy was feloniously taken, stolen and

N




t .

Police Court T')istl"ict. Affidavit—Larcex

@ity and Gounty } ga s
of Pew Pouk, :

being duly sworn,

189 0@! the Gity of SHew Zork,
of Hew York, was Selonzously taken, stolen and carried away frem the pessessicn of deponent, in

't1'me) the /ollawin-g property, vz -

So

sy au0f29 07 wiomg

\a,u’ that ilds deponent
4 doé-%w the Séxz’(l 20 Yy was feloniously iaken, stolen and
e A &%/4\ Rt

(A |

-99'1’”% ﬂﬂZ[ﬂd
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A9

A

i

CITY AND COUNTY | _
OF NEW YORK,

/¢’ ,?

years, occupation

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge. - M
Sworn to before ye, this oo
PP
desy of AT

LPolice Justice.

e

AREREN
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; ) B N : 4
Sce. 198—200. / District Police Court. -

.

GOUNTY 1, //% : 1 §
%’b / Wbeinw duly examined before the under-

sifrne{ according to law, on the annexed cha,lcr%ld being informed that it is Tt right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explam the facts alleged against h

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that he— waiver cannot be used:

against h e~ on the trial.

Quéstion. What is your pame?

e AnSWEP. T e A= P e

—..RQuestion.  How old are yout!

‘ . Answer, e . S
_____Quaestion. __Where were :- mt B e . e
Que.}s*t'imz,. V‘Vhere do you live, and how long have you resided there ? o
- ALl 5 Been or w2y T
Question. What is your business or profession ¢
Amnsw N
Question. _Give any explanation you may thinlk proper of the circumstances _appearing in the

testnnon against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
on ¢
;- Answer
. -

R /l//’. _ . R




_Vp’)tm

agsnp 20g0d

,_..0’

240459 usyn

~'Sec. 198—200. ) . Distriet Police Court.
A — A : —— .

-

Py

: being duly examined before the under-
si,,‘(mﬁ( according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h ~= right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h i that the statement is. designed to
enable h &~—_if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h <
that he is at liberty to waive maling a statement, and that 11!5 waiver cannot be used

against h “—-~ on the trial.

. Question.. What is your 2 B L .
% @

;. CITY AND COUNTY ss
' OF NEW YORK, *

Answer. v T ST =T

__ . Question. FHow old ave yon?

Ans'wer; . Z{

Question. Where were you born¥

Answer.

Question. Where do yon live, and how long have you resided there ?

b, o P PP

Question. What is your business or profession ?
e L . . ~

Answer. W

___ Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?

" Answer.




" séoro'z'. ‘

CITY AND COUNTY ss
OF NEW . YORK, } :

In the name of the Peozjle of the State of New York, To any Peliceman of said Cify/'j .
P’roof by aﬁdamt kamn{] bee@%j made before g %7’%,
Police Justice of said City, b W/éﬁ(ﬂ"? No.
S/reel wm City, that the Jollowing property, to wit:
W =z %7/4 = ST e

Has b eloniously taken, stolen, and carried away
/

andithat he ha a probablecauseto suspect, M suspect that the sai@ . ..——="

or part thefeof /‘4 now concealed in the dz% house or premise%% M@
situale on g 1ot of ground fronting on No. /{ o f % Street, in the
Warad of said City.

HEREFORE, in the name of the People of the State of New York, to command

@ Wzstance, in the day time, to enter into the house or premises of the

swuate as aforesaid, and they make immediate

and if the same, or any part thereof

search for the said
shall be found, then you a

- or person in whose custody the same shiy e so found, before me or some otim Police Justice in
" and for the said Cily and County, to be dealf with as the law d’zrects This Warrant unless executed

within five days after its date'is void.

Given at the City g New York af: id, under my hand and seal,
LTS e 4 day of one thousand

1N

etght hundred and esgity

Police Justice.




Tné;e’)ztor@ of prope

 executed :

the Officer by whom this warrant was executed,

do swear that the above Lnventory confairts a true and detailed account of all the property taken by me

in this warrant.

Sworn to be me, this.___

- T
(-/CL\ C) Gy Pplice Justice.

'LNVHHYM HOYY3IS

Justice.

___Dlstrlct |

Courte.

. THE PEOPLE, &,
ON THE COMPLAINT OF

Polism
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.Double Expense Bill. 9+89—200m.

Old Colosy Steambost C

T .

i
|

Bbls.

Bags
H}m'fni’:’

ases
*RBules

Casks

P

EALL RIVER LINE,

AND,

]30\';‘:

1/8 g7 Boy
No.of Team,. - "‘\ e Tork, :
s S

0o
L Heshs
Lo Delivered by

. —

Received, in good order and well conditioned, from ﬂl_l]

the f()nui%”;:”d‘ ages // on 13 OSJ'O./\/;;QMS’/{G/ 2

e

/ b o gad

) COLONY STEAMBUAT GO.

Cuarriages

v

Crates
Rolls

111 u]”y”"“’

Dor. Shovels

//{7~/K.

Marks

Double Expense Bill. 9-4-89-200m.

Double Expense Bill. 9-4-80-200m.

¢ 3.~ C

1

AXND

Old Colony Steamboat Co.

FALL RIVER LINE,

C €
the following packagdds jromn: J)O ST ()./\

o
/ﬂ,nscs

Jales

Casks

Boxes ,/’. Kegs
e e

L
‘ HEY 12

- o
’ ,:‘;}f(,‘_ltr”cj orh, .-

O\}-/
Recelved in good order and well condltloned
|
.

'_Blvl.\.
/Cj‘x:l:_(://;',

Bundles

Pier 28, North River, New York,

(89¢
No.of .’/'('//'/n// cnd 8
Delivered by.

-

No .

/%Mhs

o 0L co INY STEAMBUAT ©0.

consigned 19 h.
Crates ",/ww(,’:u’ri:lgcs
* .
]{UV Tubs
,:H“I‘ Ch. Tea Doz. Shovels

Tlorses
Marks

|
- l{'
I

g TEATTA T, e e A AT e

Old . Colony Steamkoat Co.

AND

FALL RIVER LINE,

om BOSTON, co

the foZZoz(t?,_g packades [
Cuases /Z‘y

Bales
Cuasks e

Bundles

ff RN 1

,,mv"'

Wwww@f"._i@t

Boxes

Pier 28, North River, New York,

X ;
No. of Team,:

Delivered by.

No

Received, in good order and well conditioned, from OLD Gu NY STEAMBDAT Gl]

el
Crates

nsignod t

@M,

_7W;

Curriages s

Rolls /41*9’

I1f. Ch. Tea Doz. Shovels
/

Ilorgps—"

e

Marks

Double Expense Bill. 9-4-83-200m.

Old Colony

oat Co.

Steamb

[

FALL RIVER LINE,

Pier 28, North River. New York,

the followrng

Cascs
Bales

Casks
Boxes

Bbls.
Bags
Bundles

No,of Teanv,.. 2. ..

Delivered by, .

packag‘ei]"&wn BOSTON, consigned
Cr
Rolls
Iif. Ch.
Horses

Y STEAMBOAT C0.
%@//;@

ates Carriages
Tubs
Tea oz. Shovels

Marks




o9

'FALL RIVER LINE.

-

Recei Ved, New York, N O V ] 2 ] 8 & , in good order and
well conditioned, from OLD COLONY ,ST’EKMBOAT Co. , the following packages :
Crates Carriages
Rolls Tubs

Casks Bundles Hi. Ch. Tea Doz. Shovels
Boxes XKegs

Pler 28, North River, New York.
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Police Court » 7. District. Affidavit—Larceny.
"

@ity and @uunty } gq s j /Z
of Pew Ymt, / /{ //%

o Sto. //f‘/ / M’ e%w’et aged.. T fya{m‘s,

occupation /@Ww—- being duly sworn,

deposes and says, that on the I]ﬂy MW at the Gity of Hew York,

in the County of Hew Gork, was feloniously taken, stolen and carried away frem the pessessicn of a’epanent n

....................... time, the following ,vroperty/ w7

T

and that this deponent

RS
o
\§. :a\ @ probable cause ;%Ws s%fﬂw sard pp Yy was feloniously taken, stolen and

( p

%M oo
Z . Oﬂal%
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CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Justice.

AR P
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~ - J
. w
e o
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Sec. 198—200. ’ . . District Police Court.

CITY ANDLOUNTRT W ‘ -
/ M—\\bmﬁg duly examined .before the under-

gned according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is he, right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to
“enable h it he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h<_
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h - > waiver cannot be used
. against h _ on the trial.

e Question.  'What is your ng

Answer.

——.Question. How old are you?

Answer.

Question. Where do you live, a ong have you resided there ?

Question.  'What is your business or profession ¢

Gve any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the_
T festimony against ‘you, and” state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ¢ ’




"

~

Tt appeaiing to "7111.0 by the 1w,

itlvite deposition,
cqyswn,ittecl, and that there is suyp

s and statements that the crime ther
cient canse to belicve the within nanved...
. Tee

'ein mentioned has been
be Tueld 15
—ATundred Dollars,.

answer the same and

N Z;—l'?ntil

e

be admitted 1o })ail ir the sum of
and be committed o the
givé swely bail.
.18 Z -

Warden and Keeper of
L have admitted 4,

e above-named..
to bail to answer by 2l

)—‘/.61; de Justice.
Dated.

¢ wndertuliing luereto anne

ved.

There being no sujficient ca,

wse to Lelieve the within,

.Police Justice.
nmed.
Dated.

I order

I

to be discharged.

Lolice Justice.
mm.&k‘n(mmm)ﬁ‘m

S T AV
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HE PEOPLE, &c.,
ON TIE COMPLAINT OF

ngistrate,

... Officer,
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N

ot

Bpls:
Lo~ Bags.

Bundles

Kegs

*.

FALL RIVER LINE

Pler 26, North River, New York, -

No. of Team,
-.Deli’upred Oy,

No.

well conditioned, fron 0

2 Cases
Bales
Casks
Boxes

Pler 28, North River, New York.

No. of Team,i&_ﬁﬁw

Delivered by -

' New York, .

B Vet

18 s in good order and

OLD comyﬁmmm CO., the fottowing packages :

Crates
Rolls

18 /m, good order and

COL NY S AMBOAT CO., the following pcwkag

Crates Ci Zﬂ;
Rolls , /“"'iﬁfs

Hf, 7 Tea Doz. Shovels

‘BPorses *

Lbs.

OFaxlied. l

Cne




Double Expénse Bill. 94-80-200m.

Oid COIOhy. Steamboat Co.

AND

FALL RIVER LINE,

Pier 28, North River, New York.

the followips packages from BOSTON, consign¢ll &
1 = Bbls. Crates

Bales Bags Rolls
Casks Bundles Hf. Ch. Tea
ITorses

Kegs
270 vos.

No. of Temn{_/é_

Delivered 7')_‘7\
i
No :

Double Expense Bill. 9-4-89-200m.

Old Colony Steamboat Co.

FALL RIVER LINE,

Pier 28, North River, Net York.

the foZlo\z%g packages frome BOSTON, consigned %o (.
Cases 7% Bhls. Cr'ltc‘ d

Bales Bags - S
Cuaslks Bundles W II! Ch Ten y Doz. Shovels J] 5% :
Boxes Kegs Hor: sﬁf /L
Z}ZF 4[ Marks 7 Zé %
£ s
Rov 137

No. of Teamy’lc # 2 New Yorfs, ... /8.99

Delivered by....._-.

No

Double Expense Bifl, 8.4-80-200m.

Oid Colony Steamboat Co.

Double Expense Bill. 9-4-89-200m.

Old Colony Steamboat Co.

AND

3

[}

Pier 28, North River, New York,

FALL RIVER LINE

Receivevd, in gdod order and well conditioned, from DLD cﬂ NY STEAMBUATEO.

o

ases Bbls. P Crates Czu‘riugcs/,.

Bales Buags /"/‘ Rolls Tuhs""
Casks Bu‘gdlcs Hf. Ch. Tea 0%, Shovels
Boxes c .

the follozzz; packagdes from BOSTON, cqn's*ifwd ¢ Lz v Lz

Horses

,,‘K‘cgs
%F t—."/ W Marks
ROV g3

WNo. of ['arwn, - _’. (7] J'oz [
I

Delivered by.

MNo.

AND -

FALL RIVER LINE,

Pler 28, North River, Neg York.

Received, in good order and well conditioned, from ULD GNY STEAMBUAT CU.

the following packages from BOS[O./V}‘oon.ﬁww %o srzce

;_C;seﬁ% 5. s Crates Carriages

Bales Agk Rolls Tubs
" Casks % Bundles H¢t. Ch. Tea Doz. Shoygls

Boxes Kegs Horses st
,l/ﬂ Ft. %ﬁ ™ Marks

- Hoy
No. of Team, //i.?i‘/.ﬁ'aw York, . _ 13 I ;

Delivered by—. 1 S ” g
o e V/,/ ,d/:,/f(,”////(

No.
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Recelved ' Yorle, / }
well conditioned, J’% LD COLOI\TY %TEAMBOAT CO., the foltowing packages:

Cases Bbls. Crates Ca.rnages

Bales Rolls i._,,-mnbs"“""’“' i
Casks Hf. ClBef” Doz. Sllovels

Boxes ’ ‘ /Eorses

C Lbs
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Court of Genernl Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tie ProPLE oF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

against

rand Jury of the Cltv and Couuty f New York, by this iﬁdictment

%%%

of the CriMe or GRAND LARCENY IN THEM DEGREE, committed
as follows :

late of the City of New York, in the County ot New York aforesaid, on the 5

day of Wlﬂ the year of our Lord one thousand: eight hundred-and w .

, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,




1 _I 1
L= —'

SECOND COUNT—

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

~.,,”ﬁm

by a cert'un person or persons to the Gmnd Jury 'Lfmes'ud unhnown, then lately before

feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the sai

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive and haye; the said

then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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12/11/90
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JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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" Police Court—__: District.

.+ @ity and @nnntgl o . "

X of Felo Pork, | 8. ' W Q/\/ : (9 r

‘ of'f;{g WI\AA/\‘—MV\IS /\P\/:_Ak:\/(/ r—CvZ (/ &7?6‘, aged ___sZi.L__‘_Z/@(”'&
occupation eU fq/\r\_v—fAJ oLDQ»w(-I;/\ e e, being duly sworn

Md oses .and, says, tg) at gm premises Biw oV, \/Y oML LA p nnin, o) Mmm,. P
N the Uity and County aforesaid, the said being 7 @ M ,(r\A.AzL_.o’\A,«vO d/

and whicl was occupied by deponent as a ‘Z() A4 Q’Y‘N‘"’L’& Frce

. —

. 0 - —~

.and  in’ which theré was at the time a human Qez'n{/, by name LMM\AA& *w}
—~

were BURGLARLOUbL X entered 7)/ MEANS qf'fo;ul;h M
W\N\J\D}\J\X\N Ut =. e~ e

day Qf&/QA M 18? O in the

fo]lowmg property feloniously tuken, stolen, and carried awan Y, Viz /I‘

A ANMQM NS W WYY =SV}
M anmnned yond)

{property of. M\W\-—E/V\/\P:—\‘ T

and deponent further sm&s that he has great cause to believe, and does believe, that the aforésaid

BURGLARY uas conezi)_utte(l and the aforesaid proper 1y taken, stolen, and carried away by
“k/DVV\AJZA . c>29 \r\/\éL/Q_.o\\_,,, (Y An O 'Ml
. e W
. ’ ’ X
: jor the waeonsfullowin(/, ‘o wit : (-‘LO.@/&A M C/Q/\J":L—&,QL_ VKZZ e '

_____ \ Ar eN\J\M\/\M ] S/-q ;D - \Q'n L@,k ‘

\ gy

M Jﬁl!*—a A/\A’A -M\
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" THE PEOPLE, &c.,
b Committed in defaultof § .
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OITY AND COUNTY |
OF NEW YORK, {S

To.0f Ne.
Dy Ko o ¥
.......................... (%/\A—GA' e Eiee, being dnly sworn deposes and
says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit
and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.
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Sec. 198—200.

_District Police Court. |

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

being duly examined before the under-

that « he
against

o Question. .

Answer.

Question.

according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is

d
m:\é)u statement in relation to the charge against
enable h A~~~

__Answer.. ..\

. Question.. ..

hao - 1ight to -
he—4 ; that the statement is designed to
if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against B
~ is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that hea waiver cannot be used

h A~ on the trial.

- What is your name? . .

w.old are you'? . . .

9 \y ey

Where were you born ?_

Answe'r

Questzmz

Answer.

Amnswer.

Quesiion.

__Question. G

¥Vhere do you live, a,nrl how long have you resided there ¢

‘What is your business or plofessmn ?

Tl A

Give any explanation yon may think proper of the circumstances appearing _in_ _the _
testimony against- you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?

Answer.

( L’Zj crE vzl
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he  be held to answer the same and  le  be admitted to bail in the sum of

Jlundred Dollars,

the City Prison, oy the City -o/’ New Yorl, until
o

Dated.... CRANQ-x 0. 5"

I have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the undertaling hereto annexed.

Dated

There being no sufficient cawse to helieve the within named.

... BWilty of the offence within mentioned. I order h
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..Police Justice.

to be discharged.

Police Justice.
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Court of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK,

THE PEorLE oF THE STATE 0F NEW YOREK,

against

(/Q%e@péq ;7/&/@ ozeadd

Th rand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment

= % M

of the CrIME 0 BRURGLARY IN THE THIRD DuerREE, committed as follows :

The said _
_

C

late of tlleJOV\’/m/Ey - Ward of the City of New York, in the County of New York

aforesaid, on the . day of Wz_/m the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hun{yed and ~eighty- , with force and aims, in the

o time of the same d'ly, at tLe ‘Ward, City and County aforesaid, +he—
olli £ ~A_ _- W (/ T 60‘%

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to
commit some crjfy€ therein, to wit : with intent, the -goods, chattels and Personal property
of the said e U, ’ e

in-the said-dwelling house then and there being, then and

there felomously and burglariously to steal, take and carry away, against the form of
the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the
State of New York, and their dignity,




SECOND COUNT—

!
And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in
the year aforesaid, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the —

time of said day, with force and arms,

D~ A %&Am

in the &wel—h—n-'-r—heus%f thie said / e (Z(/l @W

‘ v Lex o AT
there situate, then- and there being found, /\ ing- aforesaid, then and
there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the Statute in
- -such case made and prov1ded, and against the peace of the People of the State of New

York and thelr dltrmty . -




" THIRD COUNT. i)

'HE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

Y

B ia,té"dfr fr]ié\}Ward,"City“"and" County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in
the year aforesaid, with force and arms, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid,

. . : /"
" of the goods, chattels-and personal property of % Z(/ w @WI/“

By a certain person or persons to the/Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before
feloniously stolen from the said w @W

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive and have ; (the said

then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen), against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided,
and against the peace of the People of the State of New. York and their dignity.

JOHN R. E‘ELLOWS,

District Attorney.
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~ Police Court

CITY AND COUNTY Y
OF NEW YORK, 88

Strect, dged..... £ELP . . Years;E v
being duly sworn, deposes and says, that on the

A el — 12% st the. 2C.... Ward of the City of New York, -

n.the County of New York, was Jelondously taken, stolen, and carried away, from the person of de-

ponent by force and violence, without his consent and against his will, the Jollowing property, viz:

and that this deponent has a prodabls cause to suspect, and does suspect, that the said property was
felontously. taken, stolen, and carried awa esid by
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Magistrate.

.......20 answer Qeneral Sessions.

THE PEOPLE, do.,
. on the complaint of

Poliee Court, ______ District,
l_Vo.
L T

- Witnesses,
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District Police Court,

K; }Ass.. AR . ’ ’ :

] M‘ @66(7 being duiy examined before the under-
ned according to Iaw, on thé annexed charge’; and being informed that it is h=r" right to

make a statement in relation to the charge against b= '; that the . statement is designed to

enaple L, ~ if he see fit to answer the chzirge and explain the facts alleged against heea,
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h =" waiver cannot be used

against h_-,., on the trial.

—Question.. What is.your name

2

N Answer

_Question. _How old are vou ?
Answer. , é_;[{ﬂ/"
Question.  Where were you born ?

Answ-éé'i‘ %/W

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there 7

Answer. Z/o W é%“%&__ 6 M

Question. What is your business or profession ? »
" Answer. @m;@/, -
y T

Question. Give any .explana.tion you may think proper of the circumstances appearine in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

. ‘exclilvpaiii.on? | | ‘ N
k@w = = ;f/cwff“—_

> WD piralf,




—Hundred Dollars,.

“the City Prison, of the City of New

Dated...

ﬁafue mcinbitted the above-named.

to bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annexed.

Dated...

There being no suﬁicieﬁt cawse to believe t7&wiihi

o . A

York, until

18

»
gwilty of the o

e

-Police Justice.

Police Justice.

I tobe discharged.

vstice.
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Examination
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...Stenographer of the
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Gourt of Genernl Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TrE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oOF NEW YORK,

against
The ré,iid u1y of the City and County of New York, by this indictment,

aoone % M
. I ———

t
e CriMz oF ROBBERY in the < /i,/q/‘ degree, committed as follows:

The said % M
late of the City‘bf New York, in the County of New York a,fc(aid, on thW
day of W in the year of our Lord one usand eight

hundred and e}ghty-w , 1 i i = at the (/Jy and
County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon on W( ey
in the Jbeace of the said Pcople, then and there being, felomously did make an assault, and

e

aed /a—/z%o»m

%ww 7

of the g % hattels and pels(@%@) 'ty of the szud /é%x
M@{wm& . A against the will,
and by v1olence to the person of the said (M /af
then nd there v101ent1y ax(d felpnious id rob, steal, take and c%vg %

ccced /276»w

aﬂamst the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of
the People of the S‘mte of New York and
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FOLDER:
3884

DESCRIPTION:

McGough, James

DATE:
12/19/90

Al

3884
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\ Court of General Sessions. of t'heA Peace of the
County of New York.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW Yorxg,
against
— '

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment

v Jr o g

of a MISDEMEANOR, committed as follows :

The said }a/pu.z,a Do “%«M?Z-/

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the
g\ . day of—g WQ-M -in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and ninety » at the City and County aforesaid,
certain strong and spirituous liquors, and certain wine, ale and beer, to wit: One gill of
wine, one gill of brandy, one gill of rum, one gill of gin, one gill of whiskey, one gill of
cordial, one g;ll of bitters, one gill of ale, one gill of porter, one gill of beer, one gill of
lager beef, and one gill of a certain strong and spirituous liguor to the Grand Jury
aforesaid unkgown, unlawfully did sell, and cause and procure and permit to be sold to one
de ,Kf/@,a,a,é_ who was then and
there a child actually and apparently under the age of sixteen years, to wit: of the age of
; @W—&ears, n.guihét the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and

against the peace of the People of the State of New York, and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

District Attorney.




